### TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION

**International Literature Review** 





## **TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION**

**International Literature Review** 

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education





The production of this document has been supported by the DG Education and Culture of the European Commission:

http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education\_culture/index\_en.htm

long Loorning Drogramma

Lifelong Learning Programme

This publication reflects the views only of the project partners and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

Edited by: Verity Donnelly, Agency Staff Member

In preparing this document, the specific contributions of the nominated country experts participating in the Teacher Education for Inclusion project are gratefully acknowledged.

Extracts from the document are permitted provided that a clear reference to the source is given. This report should be referenced as follows: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, 2010. *Teacher Education for Inclusion – International Literature Review,* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

ISBN (Print): 978-87-7110-028-0

ISBN (Electronic): 978-87-7110-029-7

#### © European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education 2010

Secretariat Østre Stationsvej 33 DK-5000 Odense C Denmark Tel: +45 64 41 00 20 secretariat@european-agency.org Brussels Office 3 Avenue Palmerston BE-1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 2 280 33 59 brussels.office@european-agency.org

#### www.european-agency.org

# 

### CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	.5
1. INTRODUCTION	.7
2. METHODOLOGY	.9
3. CHANGING CONCEPTIONS OF INCLUSION IN EDUCATION	11
4. TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION – THE EUROPEAN CONTEXT	13
5. A WIDER POLICY FRAMEWORK SUPPORTING TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION	17
6. INITIAL TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION (ITE)	21
6.1 Models of initial teacher education for inclusion	21
6.2 The initial teacher education curriculum	23
6.3 Attitudes, beliefs and values in initial teacher education	28
6.4 Pedagogy	
6.5 Teaching practice	34
7. ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCES AND TEACHER PROFILES	37
8. TEACHER EDUCATORS – MODELS OF INCLUSIVE PRACTICE?	41
9. CONCLUDING REMARKS	43
REFERENCES	45

#### PREAMBLE

The topic of Teacher Education for Inclusion was highlighted in a survey of all Agency country representatives as being top priority. The current project focuses on how mainstream teachers are prepared via their initial training to be 'inclusive'. Further information about the Agency Teacher Education for Inclusion project can be found on the Agency website: www.european-agency.org

Prior to the start of the project, desktop research was undertaken to explore international priorities and on-going work in the field of teacher education generally and teacher education for inclusion specifically. This initial review has been further developed with input from representatives of the European Commission, DG Education and Culture, UNESCO International Bureau of Education and OECD-CERI. In addition, other Agency thematic project recommendations have been included. Most importantly, a review of research information has been conducted by experts from 18 countries participating in the project.

The project experts' contributions to this review were crucial for extending the range and coverage of European research literature. Their inputs to this review are gratefully acknowledged.

This review, along with reports on policy and practice in Agency member countries, will inform the development of a profile to consider the skills, knowledge, attitudes, values and competences needed by teachers working in inclusive settings. The review also considers the policy framework needed to facilitate the changes required in teacher education to support the move towards a more inclusive education system.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Underlying the process of inclusion is the assumption that the general classroom teacher has certain knowledge and understanding about the needs of different learners, teaching techniques and curriculum strategies. Florian and Rouse (2009) state: '*The task of initial teacher education is to prepare people to enter a profession which accepts individual and collective responsibility for improving the learning and participation of all children*' (p. 596).

Savolainen (2009) notes that teachers play an essential role in quality education and quotes McKinsey and Company who say: 'the quality of an education system cannot exceed the quality of its teachers'. (p. 16) Studies suggest (e.g. Sanders and Horn, 1998; Bailleul et al., 2008) that the quality of the teacher contributes more to learner achievement than any other factor, including class size, class composition, or background. The need for 'high quality' teachers equipped to meet the needs of all learners becomes evident to provide not only equal opportunities for all, but also education for an inclusive society. Reynolds (2009) says that it is the knowledge, beliefs and values of the teacher that are brought to bear in creating an effective learning environment for pupils, making the teacher a critical influence in education for inclusion and the development of the inclusive school.

Cardona (2009) notes that concentration on initial teacher education '... would seem to provide the best means to create a new generation of teachers who will ensure the successful implementation of inclusive policies and practices' (p. 35).

The OECD Report 'Teachers Matter' recognises that the demands on schools and teachers are becoming more complex as society now expects schools to deal effectively with different languages and student backgrounds, to be sensitive to culture and gender issues, to promote tolerance and social cohesion, to respond effectively to disadvantaged students and students with learning or behavioural problems, to use new technologies, and to keep pace with rapidly developing fields of knowledge and approaches to student assessment. Teachers, therefore, need confidence in their ability and the knowledge and skills in inclusive education to meet the challenges that they will encounter in the present school climate. (Carroll et al., 2003)

This review sets out to provide an overview of literature which will inform further work on the Agency Teacher Education for Inclusion project, with a focus on initial teacher education for mainstream teachers. In particular, it provides information regarding:

- Changing conceptions of inclusion;
- The European context for teacher education for inclusion;
- Policy frameworks to support teacher education for inclusion;
- Effective practice in initial teacher education for inclusion with a focus on models of training, curriculum, teaching practice and assessment.

This review assumes that teacher education for inclusion should prepare teachers to engage with learner diversity arising from age, gender, sexual orientation, ethnic, cultural, linguistic or religious background, socio-economic status, disability or special educational needs.

#### 2. METHODOLOGY

The methodology used for this literature review was to systematically search internet resources, abstracts and databases including ERIC, British Library Direct, Academic Search Elite, Libris, Questia and High Beam and journal sources such as Emerald, Sage, ScienceDirect, Intute and OpenDOAR. General search engines (Google Scholar, etc.) were used to find 'grey' materials. Searches were also made of relevant websites, online reports and dissertations from Europe and worldwide. These general searches were followed up with more specific citation searches. Material was organised into the themes indicated by chapter headings.

The descriptors used include: Initial / pre-service teacher education / training / for inclusion / diversity / special educational needs / disability. Findings and research from 2000 onwards have been taken into account, with a few exceptions where research is considered to be of particular significance. The focus was on initial teacher education for inclusion, excluding in-service / continuing professional development and with a focus on training within mainstream rather than special education courses. Most evidence is from peer reviewed journals.

This review also incorporates the main findings from an earlier literature review of international documents, reports and projects compiled by Agency staff at the start of the project. This includes material from the European Commission, European Parliament, Council of the European Union, UNESCO and Council of Europe.

At the project kick-off meeting in Dublin experts from member countries were asked to provide information on recent literature from their own countries, in particular that which was written in languages other than English. As a result, materials from eighteen countries<sup>1</sup> across Europe, written in a range of languages, have been incorporated into this review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These countries are: Austria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Belgium (Flemish speaking community), Belgium (French speaking community), Iceland, Finland, France, Germany, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, UK – England and UK – Scotland.

#### **3. CHANGING CONCEPTIONS OF INCLUSION IN EDUCATION**

Globally as well as in Europe, there is a clear move towards inclusive practice and wide agreement on the key principles first encompassed in the Salamanca Statement (UNESCO, 1994). Since that time, these principles have been reinforced by many conventions, declarations and recommendations at European and global levels, including the *UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities* (2006), which makes explicit reference to the importance of ensuring inclusive systems of education. The UNESCO Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education (2009) set out the following justifications for working towards inclusive practices and educating all children together:

*Educational justification.* Inclusive schools have to develop ways of teaching that respond to individual differences and benefit all children.

**Social justification.** Inclusive schools are able to change attitudes towards diversity and form the basis for a just, non-discriminatory society.

**Economic justification.** It costs less to establish and maintain schools that educate all children together than to set up a complex system of different schools 'specialising' in different groups of children.

The Agency Teacher Education for Inclusion project uses the following definition of inclusion, which is significantly broader than earlier definitions that have often focused on the dilemma between special education and 'integration' into mainstream school. The UNESCO (2008) definition states that inclusive education is: 'an ongoing process aimed at offering quality education for all while respecting diversity and the different needs and abilities, characteristics and learning expectations of the students and communities, eliminating all forms of discrimination' (p. 3).

It is clear, then, that thinking has moved on beyond the narrow idea of inclusion as a means of understanding and overcoming a deficit and it is now widely accepted that it concerns issues of gender, ethnicity, class, social conditions, health and human rights encompassing universal involvement, access, participation and achievement (Ouane, 2008).

Arnesen et al. (2009) notes that 'inclusion may be understood not just as adding on to existing structures, but as a process of transforming societies, communities and institutions such as schools to become diversity-sensitive' (p. 46). The authors make the point that the international commitment to human rights has led to a changing view and a reduced emphasis on an individual's 'disability' which has, in turn, led to its classification as 'socio-cultural'. This view is consistent with the disability studies perspective which recognises disability as 'another interesting way to be alive' (Smith et al., 2009) and sees individual support as the norm for all learners.

More specifically regarding teacher education, Ballard (2003) says that inclusive education is concerned with issues of social justice, which means that graduates entering the teaching profession should 'understand how they might create classrooms and schools that address issues of respect, fairness and equity. As part of this endeavour, they will need to understand the historical, socio-cultural and ideological contexts that create discriminatory and oppressive practices in education. The isolation and rejection of disabled students is but one area of injustice. Others include gender discrimination, poverty and racism' (p. 59).

The ideology of inclusive education, as outlined above, is implemented in different ways across different contexts and varies with national policies and priorities which are in turn



influenced by a whole range of social, cultural, historical and political issues. When considering policy and practice for inclusive education across countries, therefore, it is important to keep in mind that policy makers and practitioners are not always talking about the same thing (Watkins and D'Alessio, 2009). Mitchell (2005) states: 'Since there is no one model of inclusive education that suits every country's circumstances, caution must be exercised in exporting and importing a particular model. While countries can learn from others' experiences, it is important that they give due consideration to their own social-economic-political-cultural-historical singularities' (p. 19).

Despite differences in national contexts, it has been possible to highlight the key principles of inclusive policies agreed upon by Agency member countries in the report *Key Principles for Promoting Quality in Inclusive Education* (2009). The inter-related and mutually supporting key principles, which summarise the Agency perspective, are as follows:

- Widening participation to increase educational opportunity for all learners;
- Education and training in inclusive education for all teachers;
- Organisational culture and ethos that promotes inclusion;
- Support structures organised so as to promote inclusion;
- Flexible resourcing systems that promote inclusion;
- Policies that promote inclusion;
- Legislation that promotes inclusion.

#### 4. TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION – THE EUROPEAN CONTEXT

Regarding teacher education to meet more diverse needs, the European Commission Communication Improving the Quality of Teacher Education (3/08/2007), calls for different policy measures on the level of member states in order to adapt the profession to meet the new challenges of the knowledge-based economy. It states: '*Changes in education and in society place new demands on the teaching profession.* [...] classrooms now contain a more heterogeneous mix of young people from different backgrounds and with different levels of ability and disability. [...] These changes require teachers not only to acquire new knowledge and skills but also to develop them continuously' (p. 4).

It states that teachers have a key role to play in preparing pupils to take their place in society and in the world of work and points out that teachers in particular need the skills necessary to:

- Identify the specific needs of each individual learner, and respond to them by deploying a wide range of teaching strategies;
- Support the development of young people into fully autonomous lifelong learners;
- Help young people to acquire the competences listed in the European Reference Framework of Key Competences;
- Work in multicultural settings (including an understanding of the value of diversity, and respect for difference);
- Work in close collaboration with colleagues, parents and the wider community.

Further to this, in the Conclusions of the European Council on improving the quality of teacher education (15/11/2007), ministers responsible for education agreed amongst other things, that teachers should:

- Possess pedagogical skills as well as specialist knowledge of their subjects;
- Have access to effective early career support programmes at the start of their career;
- Have sufficient incentives throughout their careers to review their learning needs and to acquire new knowledge, skills and competence;
- Be able to teach key competences and to teach effectively in heterogeneous classes;
- Engage in reflective practice and research;
- Be autonomous learners in their own career-long professional development.

The Communication from the Commission on improving competences for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century: An agenda for European cooperation in schools (03/07/2008) also highlights the need for initial teacher training to improve the balance between theory and practice and to present teaching as a problem-solving or research-in-action activity linked more to pupils' and students' learning and progress.

The increasingly diverse mix of students in many schools and the need to pay more attention to the learning needs of individual pupils was noted in the European Parliament resolution on improving the quality of teacher education (23/09/2008) which stated that 'the challenges faced by the teaching profession are increasing as educational environments become more complex and heterogeneous' (p. 2).



There appears, then, to be a consensus around the need for improvement across the whole continuum of teacher education. However, the Council Conclusions on preparing young people for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century (21/11/ 2008) notes that greater efforts are required to implement the Council Conclusions of November 2007. This document invited member states to ensure a high standard of initial teacher education, coherent and co-ordinated early career support and continuing professional development to attract and retain the most able people into the teaching profession, tackle poor performance, support all pupils in making full use of their potential and create school environments in which teachers learn from one another and which focus on improving student learning.

The European Commission, in An updated strategic framework for European co-operation in education and training (16/12/2008) similarly notes that 'the quality of teachers, trainers and other educational staff is the most important within-school factor affecting student performance. With around two million older teachers to be replaced in the next 15 years, the teaching profession must become a more attractive career choice' (p. 8).

Acknowledging that 'the knowledge, skills and commitment of teachers, as well as the quality of school leadership are the most important factors in achieving high quality educational outcomes' (p. 15), the Council Conclusions on the professional development of teachers and school leaders (6/11/2009) also state that: 'Good teaching and the ability to inspire all pupils to achieve their very best can have a lasting positive impact on young people's futures' (p. 6).

The paper adds that no course of initial teacher education can equip teachers with all the competences they will require during their careers and notes that the demands on the teaching profession are evolving rapidly, requiring teachers to reflect on their own learning requirements in the context of their particular school environment and to take greater responsibility for their own lifelong learning.

European Union member states and the European Commission have strengthened their political co-operation through ET2020 – the strategic framework for co-operation in education and training. This includes the promotion of equity, social cohesion and active citizenship as one of four long term strategic objectives and priority areas and includes a focus on increasing competence in reading, maths and science and reducing early leaving from school. This agenda further reinforces the need for teacher education to support more inclusive practice.

The Commission organises peer-learning activities between member states interested in jointly developing national policies and systems in specific fields. The Knowledge System for Lifelong Learning has been created to disseminate this information. As part of the Education and Training 2010 work programme, the current agenda for peer-learning has been set by the Conclusions of the European Council discussed above and includes a peer-learning cluster for Teachers and Trainers (TT). Such clusters apply the 'open method of co-ordination' that aims to help member states to critically reflect upon their own policies in the context of European co-operation and to learn from other countries' practices. Through peer-learning, member state experts can compare their specific policies with others and identify key policy questions and other factors that may be transferred to their own contexts, and thus help make their own policies more effective.

However, it should be kept in mind that teaching and education are deeply rooted in the culture of particular places and thought needs to be given as to how ideas can be made relevant to each individual context (Ainscow, 2007).

The Report of the Peer-Learning Activity (PLA), Oslo, May 2007 'How can teacher education and training policies prepare teachers to teach effectively in culturally diverse



settings?' provides evidence from a project in the Netherlands that student teachers can learn a great deal by undertaking a teaching practicum abroad to experience the reality of living and working in a different cultural context. Participants concluded that dealing with a culturally diverse classroom means much more than dealing with pupils who have a poor grasp of the language of instruction. The PLA concluded that teacher education should provide teachers with *knowledge* about intercultural issues in school and society and engage teachers' *commitment* to working in a culturally diverse society. Several basic teaching skills were felt to be particularly important in this context:

- Classroom research skills and the ability to engage with academic research;
- Monitoring the effectiveness of their classroom interventions;
- Reflecting critically on their own practice;
- Working collaboratively.

In addition, initial teacher education should equip teachers with the skills to:

- Examine and reassess their attitudes towards other cultures;
- Develop empathy and treat all students as individuals;
- Promote the success of all students and the strategies to deal appropriately with prejudice at school;
- Teach learners who lack a strong command of the language of instruction;
- Make good use of the resources that minority learners bring to the classroom;
- Communicate effectively and with cultural sensitivity with parents.

A further Peer-Learning Activity, Lithuania, 2009 produced the following conclusions regarding teacher education:

- Classroom practice (CP) will be most effective if student teachers are given specific tasks to focus on in each period of CP and if their work is guided by tutors and mentors;
- Peer learning can be an effective way to encourage reflection amongst groups of student teachers;
- The school-based mentor is one of the most powerful sources of influence on student teachers. Therefore, mentors require extensive preparation covering both content and process. The development, and subsequent deployment, of mentorship skills can be an important stage in the Continuing Professional Development (CPD) pathway of experienced teachers;
- All teaching professionals should understand that 'theory' and 'practice' are not in contradiction;
- Teaching competences can best be demonstrated and assessed in an authentic learning environment. This has consequences for the way in which the assessment of student teachers' competences is organised.

The next section will consider the wider policy framework which is needed to support the development of inclusive practice more widely and in turn facilitate a more inclusive approach to initial teacher education'.

#### 5. A WIDER POLICY FRAMEWORK SUPPORTING TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION

Teacher issues are high on policy agendas in many countries and increasing attention is being given to teacher education for inclusion in particular. Peters and Reid (2009) propose an advocacy model for teacher education based on principles of inclusive education and disability studies. They point out, however, that moving from the prevalent technical-rational discourses based on (special) education towards a socio-political discourse takes time because they are 'so enmeshed in our national psyche, legislation, school procedures and daily classroom practices' (p. 557). They highlight the need for societal reform, disability / diversity reform and school reform to be addressed together, to bring about a shift away from the medical or deficit model of special education.

Slee (2010) says: 'Just as normalization was rejected by many disabled people as a form of assimilation that invited them to deny difference, inclusive education is compromised by holding the extant regular school as the model for reform' (p. 19).

Garcia-Huidobro (2005) points out that equity must be at the centre of general policy decisions and not limited to peripheral policies oriented to correct the effects of general policies that are not in tune with a logic of justice or prevention. In moving to support education for all and remove barriers to participation and learning for all disadvantaged groups, essential links must be made between the reform of the education system and other policies such as those to alleviate poverty, improve maternal and child health, promote gender equality and ensure environmental sustainability and global partnership.

In some countries the involvement of a large number of decision-making bodies fragments policy and practice including debates around teacher education programmes (Brownell et al., 2005; Sindelar and Rosenberg, 2000). This indicates the need for clear vision and purpose and parallel changes in policy and practice to remedy discrepancies in legislation. (Lesar, 2007). Kyriazopoulou and Weber (2009) developed a tool for monitoring developments towards inclusive practice. Within their indicators for legislation, they recognised the need for legislation on education to address the quality of training for teachers, psychologists, non-educational personnel, etc. with special regard to dealing with diversity.

Many researchers have raised the difficult issue of terminology. Keil et al. (2006) noted that at policy level, there have been some largely unsuccessful attempts to clarify the use of different terms around inclusion and diversity and in particular, special needs and disability. In New Zealand, Alton-Lee (2003) notes that the concept of 'diversity' rejects the idea of a 'normal' group and 'other' or 'minority' groups of learners and sees diversity and difference as central to the focus of quality teaching. OECD (2010) define diversity as: 'characteristics that can affect the specific ways in which developmental potential and learning are realised, including cultural, linguistic, ethnic, religious and socio-economic differences' (p. 21). They do, however, make a distinction between 'diversity' and 'disparity', seeing 'diversity' as an inevitable reflection of the richness of human experience as distinct from 'disparity', in which diverse characteristics are associated with different outcomes and differential treatment. O'Neill et al. (2009) also note major difficulties with terminology including 'linguistic dexterity' (Slee, 2001), where traditional special educators use the language of inclusion to describe unchanged special education practices.

Many others have expressed concerns about categorisation and labelling (Hart, 1996; Lewis and Norwich, 2005) and Black-Hawkins et al. (2007) argue that, at school level, these terms are used when the difficulties of the students exceed the capacity of the school to respond. Such terms can support a view that sees difficulties as 'medical problems' which, in turn, reduces the school's sense of responsibility.



In considering how national education policy can support teacher education for inclusion, there is a need to overcome the paradoxical nature of separate provision that leads to the development of separate training. In England, for example, in the context of increasing specialisation of schools for different learners, Young (2008) suggests that the implied need for an ever greater range of qualifications and specialism limits who teachers think they can teach and quotes Seymour Sarason (1990) who says: 'School personnel are graduates of our colleges and universities. It is there that they learn that there are at least two types of human beings, and if you choose to work with one of them you render yourself legally and conceptually incompetent to work with others' (p. 258).

Young points out that if the system of licensure is such that we cannot prepare teachers to teach all learners, then there will remain some boundary categories that create divisions among students that result in inequitable experiences, and likely, outcomes. The UNESCO International Conference on Education (ICE) report 'Inclusive Education: The way of the future' (2009) also supports the view that due to the diversity of difficulties with which all teachers are confronted, separate pre-service training tracks (special and mainstream) are unhelpful. It is a better use of resources for teachers to develop skills and experience as mainstream educators and only later to specialise. Specialists should not be too narrowly defined, but could be built on a broad base of expertise at lower levels of training.

One key debate is between those who argue for the introduction of alternative, more flexible training routes and those who wish to further professionalise teaching. The supporters of de-regulation view certification as 'an unnecessary regulatory hurdle' (McLeskey and Ross, 2004) and suggest a 'utilitarian' approach to teacher education, which increasingly takes it out of the academic arena (Bartell, 2001). An emphasis on accreditation, rather than learning, may lead teachers to be trained in skills and practices through an 'apprenticeship' approach which may produce 'technicians' without the required underpinning knowledge and understanding. While alternative training routes may attract candidates from diverse backgrounds into teaching, all approved programmes must include rigorous teacher preparation activities and prepare teachers to meet the needs of all learners.

Blanton et al. (2007) note the difficulty of gaining consensus around teacher quality. McLeskey and Ross (2004) suggest that although educational researchers have frequently considered the definition of a 'highly qualified' teacher and the characteristics of quality teacher education, the debate today takes place in a 'highly charged political context' which calls for active engagement of all those involved (Cochran-Smith, 2002; Fenstermacher, 2002; Feuer, Towne and Shavelson, 2002).

When policy makers and those involved in general education teacher preparation consider the design and implementation of programmes, special education is 'rarely on their radar screens' (Rosenburg et al., 2007). Most debate by policy makers and reports in the education literature (e.g. Goldhaber, 2004; Zeichner and Schulte, 2001) is around the secondary content model, whereas wider competences such as behaviour management and social skills will be more important to educators in settings which include students with a range of learning needs (e.g. Council for Exceptional Children, 2003; Neel et al., 2003; Rosenberg et al., 2004).

National education policy, with a heavy focus on outcomes, can also impact on teacher education. Reynolds (2001) points out the difficulties of focusing on values in an output driven system and the need to look longer term beyond that which can easily be observed / tested. Cochran-Smith (2005) similarly challenges the purpose of schooling and of teacher education, seeking a move away from a focus on producing learners who can pass tests.



Edwards and Protheroe (2003) suggest that the focus on pupil performance in national tests emphasises the performance of student teachers as deliverers of a curriculum rather than a more appropriate focus on responsive and interactive pedagogy and Slee (2010) notes that teacher education needs to enter the debate about curriculum rather than 'training teachers to install it' (p. 20). He notes the need for critical learning in the area of assessment in the age of high-stakes testing and the need to take the opportunity offered by the education of the inclusive teacher to 'insert a less-restrictive vision' that focuses again on the needs, broader capacities and potential of the diverse learners in our classrooms.

The McKinsey Report (2007) examined data from 25 school systems and concluded that the high-performing school systems 'get the right people to become teachers; they develop these people into effective instructors; they put in place systems and targeted support to ensure that every child is able to benefit from excellent instruction' (p. 37). In order to recruit and retain high quality teachers, high-performing systems are reported as having common strategies and best practices for attracting strong candidates: marketing and recruitment techniques taken from business to increase the supply of quality applicants; the creation of alternative routes for experienced personnel; effective selective mechanisms (with processes for early removal of low-performing systems also have strategies in place to recognise a common set of characteristics that can be identified before entry into teaching.

Large numbers of teachers, recruited during the 1960s and 1970s are now close to retirement and in many areas trained teachers are not staying in the profession in the long term. As research indicates that the more preparation prospective teachers receive, the more likely they are to remain in the profession (Darling-Hammond, 2003), this further reinforces the need for effective teacher education which takes account of the increasing diversity of needs in today's classrooms.

The UNESCO 2009 report 'Inclusive Education: The Way of the Future' (op. cit.) emphasises the need to reinforce the role of teachers by working to improve their status and their working conditions, develop mechanisms for recruiting suitable candidates and retaining qualified teachers who are sensitive to different learning requirements.

Research by Day et al. (2009) highlights the important role of school leaders on learner outcomes. They also have an impact on trainee teachers, who will be heavily influenced by their school practice. Day et al. identify a common repertoire of broad educational values, personal and interpersonal qualities, dispositions, competences, decision-making processes and a range of skills possessed by all effective head teachers in the study. These characteristics were underpinned by a clearly articulated set of values focusing on promoting individual and social well-being and raising standards of achievement for all learners. They noted that, while good leaders perform their tasks regardless of policy, they are performed more effectively in a 'benign policy environment' and reflect 'social aspiration and professional responsibility'. Day et al. conclude that, in order to improve learner outcomes, a coherent policy framework is 'necessary but not sufficient'. A more 'morally centred approach to leadership' should be at the forefront of policy debate.

National education policy then, needs to resolve the debate around standards, accountability and equity in education to further improve inclusive practice and ensure that the next generation of teachers are brought up in inclusive settings which develop appropriate attitudes and values. The findings of the UNESCO report 'Learning Divides' (Willms, 2006) provide evidence that strong school performance and equity can go hand in hand. Findings show that schools with heterogeneous intakes on average tend to perform



as well as those with homogeneous intakes and that schooling systems can be highly inclusive and still yield high literacy performance.

Sharma et al. (2006) point out that limited international studies have been carried out to understand pre-service teachers' concerns and preparedness for teaching diverse learners. Many studies conclude that teachers are key to the success of inclusive education, yet candidates are still leaving initial teacher education without the skills, knowledge, or attitudes needed to work with all of their future students (Jones and Fuller, 2003). Some have 'a heart for diversity instruction' but lack the knowledge and skills of how to go beyond scratching the surface with students (Edwards and Kuhlman, 2007).

There is a need to recognise that legislation, funding, curriculum, assessment and accountability should be considered holistically if they are to support a move towards more inclusive practice in which teacher education plays a key role. The recent Council Conclusions on the social dimension of education and training (Council of the European Union, 2010) note that education and training systems across the EU need to ensure both equity and excellence and recognise that improving educational attainment and key competences for all are crucial not only to economic growth and competitiveness, but also to reducing poverty and fostering social inclusion.

It states: 'Creating the conditions required for the successful inclusion of pupils with special needs in mainstream settings benefits all learners. Increasing the use of personalised approaches, including individualised learning plans and harnessing assessment to support the learning process, providing teachers with skills to manage and benefit from diversity, promoting the use of co-operative teaching and learning, and widening access and participation, are ways of increasing quality for all' (p. 5).

#### 6. INITIAL TEACHER EDUCATION FOR INCLUSION (ITE)

#### 6.1 Models of initial teacher education for inclusion

Current teacher education programmes have been influenced by a number of pedagogical traditions in past decades, for example academic, practical, technological, personal and critical / social re-constructionist traditions (Schepens et al., 2009). Britzman (2003) described practices in institutions holding onto the positivist or academic tradition as providing knowledge through various, often fragmented courses while schools provide the setting where student teachers are expected to apply those theories and integrate knowledge and practice by themselves.

A number of research studies discuss the effectiveness of different approaches to the preparation of pre-service teachers for inclusion. Stayton and McCollun (2002) identified three models that exist in programmes that train for inclusion: the Infusion model, the Collaborative Training model and the Unification model. In the Infusion model students take 1 or 2 courses that cover inclusive education. In the Collaborative Training model, many more courses deal with teaching inclusive classes, and mainstream teaching students and special education students do all, or part of their practical experiences together. In the Unification model, all students study the same curriculum that trains them for teaching mainstream education with a focus on pupils with special needs.

Pugach and Blanton (2009) refer to discrete, integrated and merged models and point out that these form a continuum from least to most collaborative. Wang and Fitch (2010) concluded that all ITE programmes should embrace the key elements of successful co-teaching to train better collaborative teachers for 21<sup>st</sup> century inclusive education.

An approach that incorporates specific activities for inclusive education training in a general education subject is described by Golder et al. (2005) and Pearson (2007). This is also referred to as the 'permeation' or 'embedded' model and requires careful planning and monitoring if it is not to appear unplanned and incoherent (Avramidis et al., 2000). This 'content infused approach' is under-researched (Loreman, 2010) but is supported by many studies including Voltz (2003), Woloshyn and Bennett (2003) and Loreman and Earle (2007). Loreman (op. cit.) however, stresses the need for strong co-ordination and leadership within this approach.

Gultig (1999) while supporting the need for an integrated approach, suggests that teacher education tends to 'get caught in the trap' of focusing on detail, for example, teaching about human rights, rather than taking a human rights approach.

In response to the Bologna Declaration, schools of education in Spain have initiated a significant reform of initial teacher education programmes so that diversity and special / inclusive education content will be infused across the curriculum where all instructors will deal with SEN within subject areas (Cardona, 2009).

The model most commonly described in the literature is that of mandatory or elective courses on inclusive and / or special education (Van Laarhoven et al., 2006, 2007; Lancaster and Bain, 2007; Lambe, 2007) but Florian and Rouse (2009) argue that modules or units on special education in initial teacher education serve to 'reinforce the sense of separation that characterises special education and leads to the belief that such children are the responsibility only of those who have undertaken specialist courses' (p. 596).



In Finland training is not organised in disability-oriented streams but rather aimed at providing teachers with a wide variety of knowledge and skills that they can apply in various settings and situations (Savolainen, 2009).

Steinweg et al. (2005) present research findings showing no significant difference between traditional and online presentation of courses and says this could provide strong indications for policy-makers and administrators regarding development of future courses and programmes. Bartolo (2010) discusses the use of web-based training and suggests that e-learning, while not an easy option, can provide an alternative access strategy and focus on learner-directed learning.

Increasingly, teacher education requires links with other partners and Darling-Hammond (2006) points out that 'the enterprise of teacher education must venture out further and further from the university and engage ever more closely with schools in a mutual transformation agenda, with all of the struggle and messiness that implies' (p. 301).

A coherent conceptual framework underpinning a clear view of learning and concept of 'good teaching' is also widely considered to be a major factor in terms of quality teacher education programmes. Hoban (2004) believes that such a framework should be based on four key dimensions:

- Conceptual links across the university curriculum;
- Theory-practice links between the school and university settings;
- Socio-cultural links between the participants in the programme;
- Personal links that help shape the identity of each teacher-educator.

He concludes that the socio-cultural dimension overlays the other three and stresses that it is the social interaction between the participants that enables a programme to be dynamic and change according to relevant cultural or political needs with relationships and communication being at the heart of a coherent teacher education programme.

In a discussion about the 'intractable theory-practice issue', Korthagen et al. (2006) say: 'telling new teachers what research shows about good teaching and sending them off to practice has failed to change, in any major way, what happens in our schools and universities. Neither has having teachers write behavioral objectives nor exhorting them to be reflective practitioners produced major leaps forward' (p. 1038).

They present the following seven principles to illustrate one way of beginning to create a common language for the development of a pedagogy of teacher education. Learning about teaching:

- Involves continuously conflicting and competing demands;
- Requires a view of knowledge as a subject to be created rather than as a created subject;
- Requires a shift in focus from the curriculum to the learner;
- Is enhanced through (student) teacher research;
- Requires an emphasis on those learning to teach working closely with their peers;
- Requires meaningful relationships between schools, universities and student teachers;
- Is enhanced when the teaching and learning approaches advocated in the programme are modelled by the teacher educators in their own practice.



Discussing teacher education for social justice, Cochran-Smith (2008) says that several interpretive frames are key, including an understanding of educators as potential agents of social change and a related understanding that all people have multiple identities and life histories structured by race, class, culture and other aspects of existing societal systems of privilege and oppression. Teachers must question assumptions, pose and research problems and use curricula, tests and research as 'generative' rather than 'prescriptive'. Finally, Cochran-Smith says that teaching practice, when consistent with the aims of social justice, always takes a stand on society's current distribution of resources and current respect / disrespect for social groups.

Whatever model is followed, a critical consideration for teacher education is how expertise develops. Kershner (2007) makes reference to Glaser's (1996) interactive phases of development to gain a sense of the combination of scaffolding, collaboration and developing action involved in gaining the know-how of an expert teacher. These phases are: externally supported, transitional and self-regulatory which all depend on a transformational approach to learning involving seeking meaning and looking beyond the immediate task.

Bain et al. (2009) applied an embedded course design on 4 levels: a knowledge and awareness level; skill building through active experience; 'real world' application with feedback and then a personal impact level as part of course assessment.

In the following section, the content of initial teacher education courses will be considered in more detail.

#### 6.2 The initial teacher education curriculum

This section will provide an overview of the literature on the initial teacher education curriculum. The key areas of attitudes, values and beliefs, pedagogy and teacher practice will be explored in more detail in separate sections (see 7.3, 7.4 and 7.5).

Scruggs and Mastropieri (1996) analysed 28 studies conducted from 1958 to 1995 and found that, overwhelmingly, teachers endorse the general concept of providing support to students with disabilities. In spite of that, only one third of the teachers felt that they had the time, preparation, resources and skills needed. More recently, similar findings have been reported by Forlin (2001), Loreman (2002), Jobling and Moni (2004) Sharma, Ee and Desai (2003) Shippen et al. (2005) and Lambe and Bones (2006a). The OECD TALIS survey (2009) also found that teachers do not feel fully prepared to cope with the challenges of students with SEN. With this in mind, what should be included in initial teacher education for inclusion?

Beard et al. (2007) conclude that the following elements of good practice in initial teacher education warrant extension across the European countries: a pre-practicum prior to an initial teacher education programme; a pre-practicum as part of the teacher education programme; a period of supervised school teaching experience; successful completion of an examination or other assessment arrangements; a monitored probationary period and a period of induction, supported by mentoring arrangements.

The UNESCO report 'Inclusive education: The way of the future' (op. cit.) proposes that a basic training curriculum for teachers might include advice about how to:

- Translate relevant research findings (including brain research) into effective teaching practices;
- Assess the progress of all students through the curriculum, including how to assess learners whose attainments are low and whose progress is slow;



- Use assessments as a planning tool for the class as a whole, as well as in drawing up individual plans for students;
- Observe students in learning situations, including the use of simple checklists and observation schedules;
- Relate the behaviour of particular learners to normal patterns of development (particularly important for teachers of young children);
- Involve parents and pupils in the assessment process;
- Work with other professionals and know when to call on their specialised advice and how to use their assessments for educational purposes.

Bransford et al. (2005) base their consideration of how best to prepare teachers for a changing world on four kinds of research evidence:

- Basic research on learning, development, language acquisition and social contexts;
- Research on how learning conditions and teaching practices influence learning;
- Research on how teacher learning affects teaching practices and student outcomes;
- Research on how teachers learn successful practices.

They stress the importance of creating a 'cognitive map' of teaching that teacher educators must have to enable them to structure content and explain the 'big picture' to prospective teachers.

Brownell et al. (2005) identified the following characteristics in general teacher education programmes judged as highly effective. These are: (a) connections between carefully planned coursework and field work so that students connect what they learn with classroom practice; (b) the use of varied strategies by teacher educators to hold themselves accountable for pre-service teacher learning; (c) coursework and field work that emphasise the needs of a diverse student population; (d) teacher education that occurs within a collaborative professional community, that includes pre-service teachers, in-service teachers and teacher educators; (e) a heavy emphasis on subject matter pedagogy that facilitates the development of content specific pedagogy; (f) a clear vision of high quality teaching that is pervasive throughout the programme, and (g) use of active pedagogy (as contrasted with lecture) by teacher educators to promote student reflection that is likely to lead to conceptual change by pre-service teachers.

Welch and Guntig (2002), exploring changes in the teacher education system in South Africa, found that the apparent consensus around key issues is underpinned by critical differences as regards:

- The meaning of 'competence' with debate between those who advocate a holistic integration of theory and practice and those who focus more strongly on technical skills;
- The relative weighting that should be given to theoretical education and practical skills and the desirability of school-based teacher education;
- The desirability of using more flexible modes of delivery in order to service teachers while they teach.

Nuova (2009) suggests that teacher training is too far removed from the professional routines and cultures of teaching and suggests 5 proposals to influence teacher training programmes. These include a practical component that focuses on pupil learning and



study of specific cases, training inside the profession to acquire professional culture and experience, attention to communication and relationships, teamwork and collective practice. In addition, programmes should be characterised by principles of social responsibility, public communication and professional participation in the public space of education.

Ferreira and Graça (2006) recommend that, to take full account of the diversity of the current school population, the following aspects should be included in teacher education: learning difficulties and disabilities; emotional and behavioural problems; communication techniques and technologies; symbolic representation, signification and multiculturalism; different curricula; teaching methods and techniques and educational relationships. To ensure culturally responsive teaching, Gay and Kirkland (2003) say that teacher education must include critical cultural self-reflection that takes place in a context of guided practice in realistic situations and with authentic examples and Baglieri (2007) proposed the incorporation of Disability Studies in teacher education.

Regarding multi-cultural education, Winch-Dummett (2006) identifies, in addition to lesson organisation and outcomes, teaching strategies and teacher communication, the need for 'cultural inclusion' that includes acknowledging culturally specific activities and beliefs, promoting values and an ethos of respect for cultural diversity. Gregory and Williams (2000) highlight the need for a positive model of bilingualism in teacher education, with trainee teachers recognising bilingualism as a strength in learners.

It is clear then that teachers need to have not only theoretical and practical knowledge but also the capacity to bring about optimal levels of learning for all students. (Bakken et al., 2002).

Forlin (2008) points out that teachers also need a detailed understanding of their role as a teacher, requiring a 'self-critical perspective that involves constant involvement in a process of reflection and introspection' (Cruickshank, 1987, cited in Bakken et al., 2002). She adds: 'effective inclusive teaching also requires a high level of ethics and morals, an understanding that the teacher's role is not only to inform and facilitate learning but also to act as a role model for guiding the development of their students, and a commitment to enable inclusion to happen' (p. 65).

Chevalier (2006) reporting on an international conference included a charter for teachers' initial training which included: reflection on issues of norm, difference and inclusion, intercultural education, positive attitudes and high expectations, innovative skills in assessment, good communication and ICT.

Naukkarinen (2008) studying the Finnish primary school teacher education curriculum suggests that more effort is needed to integrate inclusive education content. Some of the areas identified as key to development are as follows:

- Staff need to clarify for themselves the concept of inclusive education with more opportunities for in-service training in inclusive education and more collaboration among all staff.
- The diversity of learners should be introduced from the viewpoint of a primary school teacher and not as pathology or medical-based knowledge that is separate from a teacher's daily work. Language use also has to be changed from the medical to the social model (Saloviita, 2005).
- As the majority of initial teacher education (ITE) students come from a non-inclusive educational background, it is crucial to reduce / remove this 'experience-based barrier' to adopting the ideas of inclusive education.



 Teachers of education, multicultural studies and teaching practice should plan and teach more together; the solving of problems could bind together the central topics of the curriculum.

Reporting on the Teacher for all Children (TAC) programme developed at the University of South Florida, St. Petersburg, Stoddard et al. (2006) describe four enrichment programme elements: (a) the teacher-mentor experience; (b) the portfolio; (c) professional behaviour assessment (aimed to help the transition from pre-service to in-service status) and (d) team building skills. The evaluation showed that time spent in real classrooms, use of reflective assignments and collaboration between universities and public schools were strong features of the programme and gave teachers a greater sense of efficacy, increased use of inclusive practices and high levels of leadership.

Many writers focus on the need for initial teacher education to develop reflective practitioners. Barrett and Green (2009) identify two mechanisms for helping teacher candidates become more accomplished practitioners – namely reflective practice and teachers as researchers and this finding is also supported by Rodrigues (2009) who summarised his proposals as 4 'R's:

- Development of a Research attitude to cope with the 'unknown';
- Reflection (acting, planning, sharing);
- Knowledge of Real contexts (active participation and change);
- Resilience (keeping the focus on learning and the fact that 'school matters').

Larrivee (2000) highlights the importance of reflection, believing that when teachers become reflective practitioners, they 'move beyond a knowledge base of discrete skills to a stage where they integrate and modify skills to fit specific contexts, and, eventually, to a point where the skills are internalized enabling them to invent new strategies' (p. 294).

Cardona (2009) suggests that student teachers in new ITE programmes must be prompted to (a) raise their level of awareness regarding issues of disability, and (b) begin to see learners with disabilities as resources providing opportunities to learn and understand student characteristics more deeply in order to develop skills and empathy with the learners' abilities. Cardona also stresses the need for ITE faculties to explore their understanding of disability and inclusion issues and examine the ways that the curriculum addresses issues of equity within the educational system and the teacher's responsibility for these issues. This is in line with the findings of Guðjónsdóttir et al. (2008) who conducted a three year study of inquiry-based teacher education and highlighted the need to challenge the narrow view of inclusive practice and facilitate a holistic approach responsive to issues raised by equity, poverty and diversity.

Kershner (op. cit.) in considering how teachers' knowledge for meeting pupils' SEN might be extended, emphasises:

- The fundamental importance of understanding child development in context, as a basis for understanding the identification of special educational needs.
- The value of knowing that you do not know everything, and believing that change is possible.
- The need to communicate understanding and resolve difference between the people who have useful knowledge.
- The need to recognise the school as a site for the development of teaching expertise and the creation of knowledge.



Franzkowiak (2009) following a survey of primary school teacher training in Germany recommended that introductory courses on inclusive education should be mandatory for all teacher education students, that bachelor and masters courses should include inclusive education and combined degree programmes for primary and special education should be promoted.

Spandagou et al. (2008) developed the Problem Based Learning framework (PBL) into two mandatory special and inclusive education units of study for pre-service teachers. The three areas of inclusive principles, effective teaching practices and behaviour management are underpinned by the common themes of attitudes and collaboration.

Many researchers have emphasised the importance of developing skills in collaboration and negotiation (for example Snell and Jenney, 2000; Carroll et al., 2003, Griffin et al., 2006; Hajkova, 2007). Smith and Leonard (2005) stress the importance of collaborative skills and the ability to solve problems to enable teachers to meet students' support needs which may change regularly.

The ACCEPT model (Van Laarhoven et al., 2006, 2007), implemented for special and general education pre-service teachers, included a simulated lesson plan as a class assignment, a field experience in an inclusive classroom and the development of specific competences using vignettes with students' profiles.

A new teacher education programme at the University of Utah, described by Hardman (2009), includes an emphasis on Universal Design for Learning, continuous field experiences, an extensive professional education core of knowledge and skills and teaching specialisation (in early childhood, primary, secondary and special education).

There appears to be a broad consensus around the areas to be addressed during initial teacher education for all phases although Romano and Chambliss (2000) suggest that many needs appear to be greater for teachers at the secondary level. Other key areas include: consideration of differences in learning (Kavkler, 2009), the importance of classroom culture (Karpljuk et al., 2008), skills in assessment and accommodations (Woloshyn et al., 2003), assistive technology (Van Laarhoven et al., 2007) and the use of ICT (Wilcox et al. 2002). Johnson and Hallgarten (2002) suggest that applying evidence from cognitive neuroscience in their work might lead to teachers reclaiming their professional autonomy.

Many researchers (for example Chandler, 2000; McMahon and McNamara, 2000) also note that few teachers have adequate training in the management of challenging behaviours, which is of interest as such behaviour is often said to cause the failure of inclusive programmes.

Several collaborative European initiatives have recently provided a useful basis for developing a curriculum for initial teacher education for inclusion. The IRIS project, developed via a Comenius grant from the European Commission, aimed to improve teacher training through research into inclusive classrooms. The training pack contains modules on classroom climate, the teacher in the inclusive classroom, support in inclusive settings, inclusive assessment, IEPs and curriculum adaptations, strategies and practices and can be used in multi-professional contexts. These areas also have much in common with the work of Kosnik and Beck (2009) who outline seven key elements of pre-service preparation for teachers which includes: programme planning, assessment, classroom organisation and community; inclusive education; subject content and pedagogy; professional identity and vision for teaching.

Regarding inclusive assessment, Watkins (2007) makes recommendations for initial, inservice and specialist teacher training, stressing that teachers need information on the



theory and rationale for inclusive assessment and preparation for using on-going assessment as a tool for their work.

Feyerer (2006) describes the content of teacher education for inclusion developed by the ERASMUS projects INTEGER and EUMIE (http://www.ph-ooe.at/iip/iip/iip/eumie/indexen.html) which may also be useful in considering course content for pre-service teacher education.

Finally, as part of the OECD project, Milner and Tenore (2010) set out a series of questions for teacher educators to consider when planning and developing a curriculum for their students which will better prepare them for diverse learners.

#### 6.3 Attitudes, beliefs and values in initial teacher education

The importance of positive attitudes of beginning teachers in inclusive settings has been well documented (Avramidis et al. 2000; Avramidis and Norwich, 2002; Hadadian and Chiang, 2007; Van Reusen et al., 2001). However, both pre-service and in-service courses that address the skills and the attitudes of teachers towards students with disabilities are frequently deemed insufficient by teachers (Bartak and Fry, 2004; Gary et al., 2002; Gould and Vaughn, 2000; Jahnukainen and Korhonen, 2003; Westwood and Graham, 2003) and many writers report a tension between meeting the special needs of some students and disadvantaging others.

Chambers and Forlin (2010) define an attitude as: 'a learned, evaluative response about an object or an issue and ... a cumulative result of personal beliefs' (p. 74). Forlin adds that beliefs influence pre-service teacher attitudes to inclusive education that in turn, influence their intentions and behaviours. Attitudes are formed by experience as well as by implicit learning and may reflect an individual's personality (Zimbardo and Lieppe, 1991). Johnson and Howell (2009) suggest that attitudes may be seen to have three related components: cognitive (i.e., the idea or assumptions upon which the attitude is based), affective (i.e., feelings about the issue), and behavioural (i.e., a predisposition toward an action that corresponds with the assumption or belief) (Wood, 2000). As a result, the formation and modification of teacher attitudes are important areas of education research (Weisman and Garza, 2002).

Meijer et al. (2006) note the need for positive teacher attitudes and for teachers to create a 'sense of belonging' to support effective inclusive practice and Cook (2002) and Silverman (2007) point out that teachers' attitudes and beliefs directly affect their behaviour with students and so have a great influence on classroom climate and student outcomes. Ainscow (2006) stresses that any teaching is likely to be ineffective where students subscribe to a belief system that regards some students as being 'in need of fixing' or worse, as 'deficient and therefore beyond fixing'.

Pre-service teacher education must, therefore, be concerned with the promotion of teacher attitudes as well as instructional competences (Andrews, 2002; Reinke and Moseley, 2002). Pearson (2007) notes that the complexity of inclusive education should be accommodated by the inclusion of work on attitudes and beliefs in teacher education rather than *'relying solely on a technicist, competency-oriented approach (Edwards et al., 2002) which is better suited to the transmission of bureaucratic and procedural knowledge'* (p. 31).

Pearson (2009) says that teacher education is a context in which changes in attitudes, beliefs and values do occur. Atkinson (2004) and Forlin et al. (2009) note that if the negative attitudes of pre-service teachers are not addressed during initial teacher education, they may continue to hamper the progress of inclusive education efforts in schools.



Training in special / inclusive education has consistently been found to have influenced educators' attitudes (Campbell et al., 2003; Cook, 2002) either in a single course (Avramidis and Norwich, 2002; Shade and Stewart, 2001; Subban and Sharma, 2006; Sharma et al., 2006; Pierson and Howell 2006; Tubele, 2008) or through a content-infused approach (Sharma et al., 2006; Voltz, 2003).

Lancaster and Bain (2007) agree that in general, there is a positive change in attitudes after undertaking an inclusive / special education unit of study and this is the case across a number of contexts and countries (Ching et al., 2007; Kyriakou et al., 2007). They suggest that some type of formalised input is sufficient to increase the awareness of general education pre-service teachers. However, Molina (2006) found research evidence to demonstrate that theoretical classes and reading are not sufficient to modify teachers' and students' negative attitudes towards pupils with special educational needs. This is in agreement with many other researchers (Campbell et al., 2003; Forlin et al., 1999; Tait and Purdie, 2000).

Loreman et al. (2007b) conclude that if pre-service teachers are going to develop positive attitudes towards inclusive education, they need opportunities for direct interaction with people with disabilities, instruction on policy and legislation relating to inclusive education, and opportunities to gain confidence in practical teaching situations with students with disabilities. Boling (2007) suggests that teacher educators should use case methodology to encourage individuals to reflect upon and possibly change their prior assumptions and beliefs. Johnson and Howell (2009) also show that attitudes are amenable to change through a course and an assignment that involve the analysis of case studies in inclusive education.

Elhoweris and Alsheikh (2006) suggest that attitudes can be improved by increasing students' knowledge about learners with disabilities and ways to meet their learning needs and suggest that teacher education programmes may need to include more alternative learning styles and instructional strategies. They propose the use of successful inclusive teachers and individuals with disabilities as guest speakers (Salend, 2001) and the use of disability simulation. Lambe (2007) found that successful teaching practice in the non-selective sector had the most positive influence on perceived competency and on general attitudes towards inclusion.

Other approaches are discussed in the literature in terms of providing pre-service teachers with increased opportunities to explore their attitudes. Forlin and Hopewell (2006) used a case study of a mother of a child with high support needs as a stimulus for reflection. Carroll, Forlin and Jobling (2003) provided increased opportunities for interaction with people with disabilities in tutorials, including watching videos and participating in a 'buddy system' at schools. Miller (2008) sent teacher education students to interview diverse learners about their views on school placement which led to an increased awareness of the need to consider different viewpoints. A study by Yellin et al. (2003) however, concluded that mere exposure to students with additional needs may not be enough to change attitudes in a positive way – it is the quality of experiences which produces real change.

Campbell et al. (op. cit.) provided a one semester course on human development and education and field work with learners with Down Syndrome. Following this, students felt significantly less discomfort, uncertainty, fear and vulnerability when interacting with people with disabilities. They also reported feeling less sympathy, an outcome also noted by Tait and Purdie (2000) which may indicate a more relaxed approach to disability as opposed to an overly sympathetic view.



To enable pre-service teacher education to properly address the issue of inclusion it is critical to provide accurate ways to measure the impact of teacher training programmes on the development of more positive attitudes and feelings towards children with disabilities and reduced concerns about inclusive education. Loreman et al. (2007a) developed a modified version of the *Interactions with People with Disabilities* scale (IPD) (Forlin, Jobling and Carroll, 2001).

A Multidimensional Attitudes Toward Inclusive Education Scale (MATIES) (Mahat, 2008) was developed to measure affective, cognitive and behavioural aspects of attitudes to inclusive education, using a theory of planned behaviour based on the work of Ajzen (1991). Mahat suggests that the attitudes of mainstream teachers toward the inclusion of students with disabilities are influenced by past experiences (previous experience with teaching students with disabilities), previous knowledge (training in the field of inclusive education) and newly acquired knowledge (professional development or training modules).

Debate about how to best prepare teachers for inclusive classrooms may usefully begin with understanding how teacher beliefs are integrated within the classroom (Taylor and Sobel, 2001). A study by Sanches-Ferreira (2007) underlines the importance of beliefs in the way teachers perceive models of teaching children with special educational needs and raises the need for further research about the relationship between the teacher's beliefs and classroom behaviour.

Boling (2007) highlights the need for teacher educators to ensure that their interactions with teacher candidates do not give the impression that there is one 'proper' way to think about inclusion. They need to build trust and encourage students to challenge prior assumptions and beliefs. Teacher candidates must not be led to believe that there is a single answer, or a single strategy, for supporting students and need to understand that no single model of education can ever truly make a classroom inclusive (Kumashiro, 2000).

Mintz (2007) suggests that beliefs, attitudes and values are not easily dealt with in large lectures and require small group seminars and discussion. Garman (2005) suggests that student attitudes are often autobiographical and, although complex, are also fluid. He writes that 6 key factors may be associated with changing pre-service values and beliefs: the dispositions of openness, self-awareness / self-reflectiveness and commitment to social justice and inter-cultural, educational and support group experiences.

Silverman (2007) found that some pre-service teachers believe that teaching is merely a set of discrete skills learned in a straightforward way and that they will be adequately prepared to teach once told what to do. He suggests that teacher educators should implement training approaches that build beliefs in gradual, 'effortful' learning, that make clear the benefits of inclusion for all students. In acknowledging individuality in education, teachers should become aware of the fact that personal experience and history shape a teacher's own learning processes and the way they see their school and their professional future (Casanova, 2006).

The General Teaching Council in England (2008) notes the following beliefs that impact on teachers' ability to promote pupil learning:

- Whether a pupil's ability to learn is fixed or can be changed;
- Whether learners benefit more from working with others or from working individually;
- Appropriate ways to respond to learners' mistakes and how this might encourage or discourage them from taking risks;
- The promotion of positive beliefs amongst pupils.



They say that teachers' beliefs can be changed through action research, by coaching and by analysing video footage of their own teaching.

NCATE (2002) define dispositions as 'values, commitments and professional ethics that influence behaviour towards students, families, colleagues and communities and affect student learning, motivation and development as well as educators own professional growth' (p. 53). Five dispositions have been suggested by Usher (2002). These are empathy, a positive view of others, a positive view of self, authenticity and meaningful purpose and vision. McKnight (2004) believes that a code of ethics is the key to dispositions and this is further supported by Burant, Chubbuck and Whipp (2007). Guðjónsdóttir and Dalmau (2002) studied the interaction between theory, practice and ethics in preparing responsive professional educators and noted the need to take account of the unique knowledge and experience that teachers bring to educational discourse.

Fletcher and Pascoe (2008) describe changes taking place in New Zealand, where teachers are being encouraged to make a pedagogical shift to one of being partners in learning with students. As part of this shift, educators at both system and school level consider and articulate their values and beliefs prior to 'negotiating and blending' these with those of others in the education community. Rather than a shift in practice, Fletcher and Pascoe noticed a '*way of being*' that is '*essential to inclusiveness for educators*'.

Inclusive values are concerned with issues of equality, rights, participation, learning, community, respect for diversity, trust and sustainability, compassion, honesty, courage and joy (Booth and Dyssegaard, 2008). Seeing values as 'fundamental guides and prompts to moral action', Booth and Dyssegaard state that in education, an understanding of the values which give rise to our actions is essential if we are to 'do the right thing'.

Alexander (2008b) identifies five versions of teaching that have common currency internationally. These are teaching as: transmission; initiation; negotiation; facilitation and acceleration. These pedagogical positions can all be tracked to founding ideas and influences in various national education systems and movements and are 'buttressed' by three 'primordial values' which are 'concerned with that most fundamental human question, the relationship of humans to each other and to the communities and societies they inhabit: individualism, community and collectivism' (p. 182).

Carini (2001) suggests that 'humanness and the valuing of humanness' is the starting point for education (p. 1). Such a view does not tolerate a 'limited and limiting curriculum or pedagogy for any child' (EI-Haj and Rubin, 2009, p. 452). The development of inclusion requires us to make explicit values that underlie actions, practices and policies. This highlights the need within teacher education to develop 'literacy', to think about, discuss and act on these values. Stipek et al. (2001) comment that teacher professional development that emphasises either beliefs or practices alone, without linking the two together, is likely to fail.

#### 6.4 Pedagogy

Alexander (2008a) writes that culture is 'so pervasive a shaper of education and educational realities that it cannot possibly be ignored' (p. 19). Pedagogy reflects the values of individual teachers and the wider culture and Alexander points out that this is a long way from the simplistic 'inputs', 'outcomes' and 'processes' which usually make up pedagogical quality indicators. Alexander defines pedagogy as 'the observable act of teaching together with its attendant discourse of educational theories, values, evidence and justifications. It is what one needs to know, and the skills one needs to command, in order to make and justify the many different kinds of decisions of which teaching is constituted' (p. 29).



Florian (2007) writes that teachers need to understand difference accounted for as an essential aspect of human development in any conceptualisation of learning. She adds that teachers need to be disabused of the idea that they are not capable of teaching all learners. Cochran-Smith (2003) stresses the need to produce teachers who, in addition to knowing what to teach and how to teach, also know how to learn and make decisions informed by theory and research and by feedback from school and classroom evidence in particular contexts.

Ainscow et al. (2007) point to the need to see teacher development as more than simply learning to implement centrally mandated practices. Darling-Hammond (2006) agrees that teachers need to know how and when to use a range of practices to accomplish their goals with different students in different contexts, rather than being subject to the pendulum swings of polarised teaching policies.

Molina (2006) similarly believes that teachers are more than technicians in education sciences – they are professionals in human relationships. While still needing knowledge of education sciences they also need, through experience, to realise that '*knowing is never dogmatic nor finished*' (p. 67).

Davis and Florian (2004b) draw on Alexander's (2004) suggestion that pedagogy is best thought of in terms of knowledge as well as skill. They conclude that although there is a great deal of literature that might be seen as 'special education knowledge', the teaching approaches and strategies themselves are not sufficiently different from those used to teach all children to justify using the term 'SEN pedagogy'. They found that sound practices in teaching and learning in mainstream *and* special education literatures were often informed by the same basic research. They also found that the term 'special education' is often used to refer to the process of making accommodations that does not constitute pedagogy, but is an element of it. They conclude that questions about a separate special education pedagogy are unhelpful given the current policy context and that the more important agenda is about how to develop a pedagogy that is inclusive of all learners.

Lewis and Norwich (2005) argue that for learners with SEN effective practice is not distinctively different teaching, but that more practice, more examples, more experience of transfer and more careful assessment are required. They highlight the value of the continuum concept, saying that differentiation or specialisation can be seen as a process of intensification. Daniels and Porter (2007) note that in the 2005 review by Lewis and Norwich, 'specialist' strategies commonly used with variations for children with dyslexia, dyspraxia, moderate and severe learning difficulties, are also useful for other children. Shulman (1986) introduced the concept of pedagogical concept knowledge – a blending of content and pedagogy into an understanding of how particular topics, problems or issues are organised, represented, adapted and presented for instruction. He noted '*in the face of student diversity, the teacher must have a flexible and multi-faceted comprehension [of subject matter], adequate to impart alternative explanations of the same concepts or principles' (1987, p. 9).* 

Rink (2002) states that teachers in inclusive settings must provide the following for their students: developmentally appropriate content, clear instructions for practice, opportunities to practice at an appropriate level of difficulty, opportunities to participate in appropriately designed task progressions and accurate feedback and assessment of subject matter and role performance. While relating to the teaching of physical education, these points show the importance of teachers' skills in creating an interactive and responsive learning environment and managing the learners in achieving multiple learning outcomes.



While it is widely agreed that content knowledge is important, particularly in secondary education (Wilson, et al., 2001; Brownell, et al., 2005), most content related studies have been done in the areas of maths and science and provide little guidance related to teachers in other content areas, or in elementary / primary or special education (Rice, 2003). Although many studies highlight the key role of pedagogical training, they do not provide information on how much or what kinds of pedagogical preparation teachers need, or whether pedagogical knowledge is better developed in a general course (e.g., an instructional strategies course) or as part of content specific courses.

Rix et al. (2006) note the shortage of evidence about the nature of inclusive teaching approaches, although they did find some evidence of the effectiveness of peer group interactive approaches in developing both social and academic participation. Their findings strongly support the idea that teachers who see the inclusion of pupils with SEN as part of their role are more likely to have effective, high-quality and on task interactions with pupils.

Teachers require support to use their pedagogical skills more effectively in different situations to meet the needs of all learners and understand that inclusive practice is about more than 'differentiation'. Hart (2000) developed a framework to support teachers in 'innovative thinking' about learning, suggesting that teachers consider:

- Making connections between contextual and classroom factors;
- Contradicting widely held, normative assumptions;
- Taking a learner's eye view, seeking to understand the meaning of activities;
- Noting the impact of their own feelings;
- Postponing judgement in order to find out more when evaluating a learner's progress.

Ainscow (2007) stressed that teachers need to see what inclusive teaching actually looks like and explore ideas with someone who can help them understand the difference between what they are doing and what they aspire to do. Lipman (1997) cautioned that specific attention is needed on such issues to bring about change – otherwise teachers can collaborate to reinforce existing practice rather than confronting difficulties.

Hart et al. (2004) say that teacher judgements about students' ability to learn may limit their achievement and the 'self-fulfilling prophecy' is likely to continue while teachers plan for the mainstream and adjust or 'bolt on' different programmes rather than planning to meet the needs – and increase the learning capacity – of all learners 'up front'.

The preparation of pre-service teachers to implement an anti-bias curriculum is also key, requiring approaches which develop positive self-esteem for all, empathy and activism in the face of injustice (Derman-Sparks, 1989). El-Haj and Rubin (2009) stress that rather than directing pre-service teachers to align their lessons and curriculum with existing standards, teacher educators should also ask them to analyse the standards in relation to both their inclusive and exclusionary consequences.

Casanova et al. (2006) found that beginning teachers really attend to the learning difficulties encountered by their pupils, but that their '*empirical and inappropriate responses*' appear to be related to a stereotyped idea of what a pupil should be and apparent lack of knowledge of what is involved in the act of learning.

2020 Vision: The Report of the Teaching and Learning in 2020 Review Group (DfES, 2006) points out that any strategy for personalising learning must focus on improving the consistency of high quality teaching to meet learners' needs as effectively as possible. This includes matching high quality teaching to the different and developing abilities of



pupils, breaking down barriers to learning and maintaining high expectations, collaborative relationships which enable all pupils to participate, and use of whole-class teaching as well as one-to-one, paired and group work and open-ended tasks based on specific projects or areas of inquiry.

Hargreaves (2006) outlines nine 'gateways' to personalising learning: student voice; assessment for learning; learning to learn; new technologies; curriculum; advice and guidance; mentoring and coaching; workforce development and school organisation and design.

Regarding culturally responsive pedagogy, Edwards and Kuhlman (2007) say that teacher candidates must know that the process of becoming a culturally responsive teacher is nurtured by living, experimenting, travelling and reading. *'Finished products do not graduate from our institutions and teacher candidates must acknowledge that they are works in progress so that they may continue to develop in their awareness of and ability to enact responsive pedagogy'* (p. 48). However, they suggest that the inclusion of video cases to model both strategies and the teacher thinking required to modify approaches in response to students may support student understandings of specific strategies for culturally responsive teaching.

The European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education (2009) conclude that schools should have an intercultural policy that fits in with and meets the needs of the local context. They say that such a policy 'would require that mainstream as well as special education teachers increase their knowledge and skills and take advantage of necessary training programmes in order to better understand and then deal in the most appropriate way with multicultural diversity' (p. 74).

Many pupils report that their experience of school still involves periods of time listening to teachers or copying from the board or a book. Personalising learning involves changing such routines within a broad curriculum that takes account of prior learning and experiences, appropriate curriculum materials, strategies that enable pupils to see clearly how they are progressing, a focus on higher order thinking skills and learning how to learn and group work, peer tutoring, paired and cooperative learning.

Leadbeater (2008) points out that teachers will play a different role in a more responsive and 'personalised system' and need to be able to work with other agencies to meet the needs of each child more holistically.

In conclusion, Hargeaves (2003) says: 'Those who focus only on teaching techniques and curriculum standards and who do not embrace the greater, social and moral questions of their time, promote an impoverished view of teaching and teacher professionalism' (pp. 160-161).

#### 6.5 Teaching practice

The importance of the practicum in any model of teacher education is stressed by Hagger and McIntyre (2006) who say: '*whatever student teachers need to learn to do as teachers in schools for their future careers, it is in schools that they need to learn to do these things*' (p. 65).

They put forward the view that student teachers' school-based learning should be organised as a planned curriculum with carefully designed diverse learning experiences to develop appropriate expertise, rather than largely incidental learning occurring through participation in the teaching work of the school. They stress the need for pre-service teachers to learn to engage in 'serious and informed intellectual analysis' of their teaching



and how it can be improved as something which they do in schools and not 'practical theorising' based on school experience carried out back at university.

Cook (2007) believes that teaching practice plays a key role in shaping future teaching behaviour, and provides an opportunity to address the research-to-practice gap (see Cook et al., 2003; Boger and Boger, 2000; Cook and Cook, 2004; Mattson et al. 2006). Bridging research and practice can be problematic, as it appears difficult to change teachers' behaviour once their teaching routines have become established (Gersten and Dimino, 2001; Sindelar and Brownell, 2001). If beginning teachers leave student teaching with a strong practical base in the most effective instructional techniques, the need for expensive work to change their practice later will not be needed.

Teacher education programmes need to consider practical placements in schools and classrooms where inclusion has been embraced as a philosophy and in practice and where there is enough appropriate support to ensure a successful experience for preservice teachers. Jordan et al. (2009) stress the need for practicum experiences in which there are 'opportunities to examine and foster their beliefs' and then learn about 'how to address the needs of diversity in the classroom' – a dimension which is neither typically or rigorously addressed in teacher education programmes.

Many researchers have concluded that teacher education programmes lack an organised approach linking courses and field experiences within a conceptual framework resulting in *'incongruence in definition, purpose, and goals for the teaching experience'* (Conderman et al., 2005, op. cit.) This lack of conceptual framework also means that student teachers may be more influenced by the practices of teacher mentors than by college / university courses or supervision. Important factors with regard to student placement such as the climate of the school, the administrative style, the type of classroom, the age and grade level of the students, the educational philosophy modelled by the teachers, the personality of the co-operating teacher, and the structure of the special education classroom (Renzaglia et al., 1997) are largely beyond the control of the university.

Loreman (2010) writes that teacher preparation institutions might consider building elements of what constitutes an inclusive environment into their criteria for selecting a practicum school. He states that although this may be difficult due to a shortage of school placements, 'to simply accept practicum schools because a quota must be filled, regardless of the standard of practice in the school does pre-service teachers (and ultimately children) a disservice' (p. 62).

From 2010, students enrolled in the Master of Teaching (Primary) at UWS Australia will take part in a subject titled 'Classrooms Without Borders'. Students will work within indigenous, migrant and refugee communities on a variety of projects, including tutoring, mentoring or the development of learning resources to ensure they understand diversity and have the ability to cater for the unique cultural needs of their students. Johnson and Battalio (2008) point out the value of study abroad to gain a richer understanding of cultural differences and ability to interact in a more sensitive way with students from diverse backgrounds.

While available research shows that field experience provides an opportunity to 'learn the profession' and reduces the anxiety of beginning teachers (Rice, 2003), there is little research about the impact of different forms of school experience on the practice of novice teachers and the learning of their students or about the contribution of teaching practice versus the contribution of coursework on the development of knowledge and skills (Rice, 2003; Wilson et al., 2001). Teacher educators also need to ensure that teaching practice is designed and well-focused to meet professional competences and standards (LaMontagne, Kenney and Nelson, 2001).



However, much depends on the practice of the co-operating teacher and Cook (2007) reported that focus group participants stated that the practices used by their 'co-operating teacher' often conflicted with their university training. In these cases, they usually decided to implement teaching strategies used by their co-operating teachers. Better ways to encourage skilled mentor-teachers to be involved are needed and the study also suggests that universities must provide training and support in supervisory and mentoring skills and the use of evidence-based practice to enable interested and suitably skilled teachers to participate.

Stoddard et al. (2006) also found evidence to suggest that, on entering a classroom, induction-level teachers often revert to instructional behaviour used either by a cooperating teacher or use behaviours that exist from memory of their own schooling.

Conderman et al. (2005) raise a further issue, suggesting that supervising teachers do not want to be responsible for hindering the future employment opportunities of students but say that honest, meaningful and forthright feedback is critical in preparing quality teachers.

A further aspect of teaching practice is the time available for university / initial teacher training supervisors to visit students on placement and influence developing knowledge, skills and dispositions and few teacher preparation programmes appear to assess the quality of the university supervisor's supervision (Conderman et al., 2001).

Spandagou et al. (2008) report a significant change in the perception of personal preparedness of students possibly related to the characteristics of the in-school experience component. Lancaster and Bain (2007) found that the one-to-one student mentoring experience resulted in greater gains in self-efficacy when compared with the inclusive classroom support experience or the university-based programme. Opportunities to reflect on success in practical teaching situations can also improve confidence and future success (Loreman et al., 2005).

Research on cognition suggests that practical or situated knowledge (derived from doing) must be acquired before one can competently apply what has been learned (Talvite et al., 2000). Teaching practice therefore, provides an opportunity for future teachers to use and own their knowledge and further develop their abilities and confidence.

Edwards and Kuhlman (2007) believe that service-learning gives teacher candidates the chance to acquire new skills from a typical classroom, rather than an academic simulation. Rowls and Swick (2000) have described four goals for service-learning for teacher candidates: (1) helping them explore education in various teaching-learning contexts; (2) enriching understandings of educational contexts and issues via direct involvement in the school setting; (3) helping them acquire and practice instructional strategies learned through university instruction, and (4) considering service-learning as an instructional strategy.

Carrington and Saggers (2008) developed an inclusive ethical framework which included five principles established following analysis of student service learning reflection logs: collaboration and team work; development of an inclusive culture; the value of respect; learning about the community and developing partnerships and the development of pedagogy informed by experience and empathy with the learners.



#### 7. ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCES AND TEACHER PROFILES

OECD (2005) found that many countries recognise the need for clear and concise statements of what teachers are expected to know and be able to do in teacher profiles embedded throughout the school and teacher education systems. They suggest that the profile of teacher competences needs to derive from the objectives for student learning, and should provide profession-wide standards and a shared understanding of what constitutes accomplished teaching. Teacher profiles, therefore, need to include subject knowledge, pedagogical skills, the capacity to work effectively with a wide range of students and colleagues, to contribute to the school and the profession, and to continue developing. Such a profile can help to align all the elements involved in teachers' development and support work to ascertain whether teacher development programmes are making a difference.

Feyerer et al. (2006) stress the need for schools to convey the competences necessary for living in a diverse and multicultural society to all learners and therefore suggest the following teacher competences and say that the methods used in teacher education must also correspond to these goals that include:

- Open, project oriented and pupil centred forms of education;
- Use and production of new teaching materials, design of learning environments;
- Process oriented support diagnostics and new forms of assessment, feedback and evaluation;
- Reflection and adaptation of one's own values, attitudes and action patterns;
- Intercultural learning, gender education and education of gifted students;
- Interdisciplinary collaboration with other teachers, therapists and institutions within/ beyond school and increased parental involvement;
- Quality assurance and school development (e.g. use of the Index for Inclusion, Booth and Ainscow, 2002);
- Public relations together with all school partners to positively influence public opinions.

Hoover and Patton (2004) list two types of competences needed to differentiate curriculum and instruction: development competence and implementation competence. The first includes among others, process of curriculum development, curricular issues, planning according to age, grade and learning styles, related nature of content, materials, instructional strategies and instructional settings. The second type includes adapting strategies, materials relevant to student needs, collaboration skills, skills to modify and adapt instruction, cognitive strategies and study skills and their use in curriculum.

Muñoz (2009) looks at the competences needed for secondary teacher education programmes and again raises the issue of a theory to practice gap and the need for integration and coherence of knowledge, capacities, dispositions and values and Moran (2009) states that good inclusive teaching goes beyond demonstrating achievement of a given set of competences or standards and requires the values dimension to be made explicit and permeate all aspects of teacher preparation.

Many researchers have drawn attention to the need to take less 'tangible' elements of practice into account – for example, how skills are used and how decisions are made and justified regarding priorities (for example Sanmamed, 2009; Medves, 2006). Chionna



(2006) stresses that in teacher education excellence in the disciplines and methodological competence is not sufficient and that sensitivity and emotional and relational intelligence are essential.

On a practical level, Sigurðardóttir (2008) outlines the crucial components of inclusive practice as follows. Students should:

- a. Become aware of and understand the ethical and political issues associated with inclusion;
- b. Become competent to acquire relevant understanding of their students and figure out how their varied competence calls for the appropriate individual action;
- c. Master situations where they give their student groups different assignments in parallel;
- d. Be able to set a varied group of students tasks, which they can tackle in concert despite their varied abilities;
- e. Master situations where some of the students are tackling criterion referenced tasks (set by the curriculum) while others are grappling with tasks outside the standard curriculum.

Some writers have expressed concern about the use of standards and competences – for example Hodkinson (2009) – who fears that they encourage a 'technicist approach' (Pearson, 2007, p. 26) rather than a focus on the values of the pedagogical principles that underpin effective SEN practice.

Rao (2009) says that teacher educators need to prepare teachers for four broader roles involving four forms of collaboration: collaboration-consultation (general education teacher requests services of special education teacher to help generate ideas for addressing an ongoing situation); peer support system (two general education teachers work together to generate ideas); teacher assistance teams (teams that include special educators provide assistance to general education teachers); and co-teaching where general and special education teachers work together to provide service to students.

Other areas frequently included in studies of teacher competences include: differentiation, learner involvement and well-being (Perrenoud, 2008; Vandeputte et al., 2007) working with parents and collaboration (Ambrukaitis et al., 2004). ONFRIH (2009) sets out 10 professional skills required from all teachers, including taking account of diversity, developing IEPs, increasing knowledge and adapting teaching. Further work on competences has been carried out by Heylen et al. (2006), Tancig and Devjak (2006), Hiebert et al. (2002) and Aelterman et al. (2008) discuss a new profile for secondary teachers in Belgium and how it might help teacher education reform.

Regarding assessment in initial teacher education, Conderman (2003) suggests that the use of portfolios can ensure that competences are met. Portfolios are widely recognised as a useful way to gather information and report on student progress. In the Teachers for all Children programme (Stoddard et al., 2006) an on-going professional portfolio aims to ensure that the student has demonstrated competence in the domains of assessment, instruction, classroom management, collaboration, systematic inquiry and professional / ethical behaviour. Portfolio entries include self-reflections, work examples, plans with strategies, resources and summaries of experiences.

Portfolios can support the assessment of 'softer' areas such as the affective aspect of being a teacher (Phelps, 2006), collaboration and work with parents as well as academic content and critical thinking, in particular around areas such as multicultural perspectives. Portfolios encourage students to reflect on what went well and what could have been



improved after any work but dialogue and feedback are essential to maximise student learning.

Orland-Barak and Kremer-Hayon (2001) researched two types of portfolios – product portfolios and process portfolios – and concluded that the portfolio itself probably does not control the quality of reflection, but that discussions and co-operation with others play a very important role. Mansvelder-Longayroux et al. (2007) point out that student teachers generally already ask the 'what works' and 'how can I' questions, but that portfolio supervision should aim to encourage them to ask the 'why' questions.

For this reason, the portfolio process, although more authentic, is likely to be more labour intensive for tutors than traditional exams. To decrease subjectivity, handbooks and other specific evaluative criteria may be introduced. Initial teacher education institutions need to consider modelling a range of assessment techniques to take account of learner diversity within their own courses, for example, reflective journals, staff and peer observations, video recordings etc.

### 8. TEACHER EDUCATORS - MODELS OF INCLUSIVE PRACTICE?

The OECD project (2010) 'Educating Teachers for Diversity' found surprisingly little knowledge on how teacher educators themselves are prepared for the challenge of diversity. They found that in many countries there appeared to be 'minimal oversight' on who can become a teacher educator, with ill-defined courses of study.

Cochran-Smith (2004) says that many teacher educators have not had the transformative learning experiences necessary to challenge the assumptions underlying teacher education programmes. Merryfield (2000) explained that one of the reasons why teachers are under-prepared for diversity is the lack of knowledge, experience, commitment and understanding of faculty members who teach teachers.

Forlin (2010) notes that a lack of formal induction into the role of teacher educator may make transition difficult for many novice teacher educators. She adds that teaching experienced and pre-service teachers is a completely different skill to teaching in schools requiring '*deep understanding of teaching and of oneself as a teacher educator*' (Swennen and van der Klink, 2008, p. 221). Furthermore, many teacher educators will have attended traditional – often academic / grammar – schools and will have had little contact with peers with diverse needs. In addition, they are often required to focus on aspects other than teacher education practice such as curriculum development or research (Korthagen and Lunenberg, 2004) which increase time pressures.

Given that teacher educators have great impact on both teacher candidates and the learners they will teach (Killoran et al., 2004), it is critical for them to develop a self-awareness of culture, bias, and discriminatory practices as well as to examine the effects of their beliefs, attitudes, and expectations on teacher candidates. Cushner (2006) also says that teacher educators should consider how they position themselves regarding diversity before engaging with others.

Teacher educators must be in a position to confront the knowledge and experiences which prospective teachers bring to their learning and be able to engage in dialogue about complex issues of culture, language, disability and inclusion. West and Hudson (2010) point out that work related to addressing the needs in these areas cannot simply involve the creation of new courses. They suggest that the change process must engage early career teachers in conversations about their experiences that generate information to transform ITE.

Bondy et al. (2007) stress that teacher educators must employ diverse approaches to learning for their students. As teacher education students ultimately will become teachers of diverse learners, teacher educators must be explicit about this aspect of teaching and learning.

Many researchers highlight the importance of modelling reflective practice to support preservice teacher learning (Brownell et al., 2005; Hudson-Ross and Graham, 2000) and Sharma (2010) stresses that reflective practice, among other approaches '*requires academics to practice what they preach*' (p. 109).

Teacher educators not only have the role of supporting student teachers' learning about teaching, but as stated above, they also model the role of the teacher. Korthagen, Loughran and Lunenberg (2005) say that here the teacher education profession is unique: 'During their teaching, doctors do not serve as role models for the actual practice of the profession i.e., they do not treat their students. Teacher educators, conversely, whether intentionally or not, teach their students as well as teach about teaching' (p. 588).



They continue: 'the way teacher educators model the promotion of certain views of learning could be a more important factor in shaping teacher behaviour than the content of the messages they are sending, despite inherent differences between the university and school contexts' (p. 588).

While there is little literature on this subject, Korthagen et al. found four forms of modelling: (1) implicit modelling, which seems to have a low impact; (2) explicit modelling; (3) explicit modelling and facilitating the translation into the student teachers' own practice; (4) connecting exemplary behaviour to theory.

Their findings confirm that some teacher educators apparently lack the knowledge and skills needed to use modelling in a productive way, to make their own teaching explicit, and to rethink the connection between their teacher education practices and public theory. They also found that experience as a teacher educator does not necessarily lead to more or better modelling and suggest that teacher educators work together and question each other during lessons and analyse each other's practice to deepen their knowledge. Pugach and Johnson (2002) say that teacher educators ought to develop experiences for pre-service teachers that provide them with ways to understand school collaboration as more than simply achieving good communication.

McHatton and Daniel (2008) suggest that implementing co-teaching at the pre-service level forces a paradigm shift and changes the way courses are delivered with collaborative teaching across disciplines. Nevin et al. (2009) reviewed collaborative teaching for teacher educators and concluded that there is no curriculum for teacher educators to become co-teachers with others in higher education and no information about how department chairs or deans might work together to establish a culture to support co-teaching.

Bartolo et al. (2007) also found during collaborative work to develop the Differentiated Teaching Module (primary) (DTMp) that teacher educators needed to focus on their learners taking a holistic / constructivist approach to learning in higher education. Other key factors included: the need for tutors to develop their own openness to diversity as enrichment and to challenge student assumptions and a recognition of the importance of reflection in as well as on action (Schon, 1983).

# 9. CONCLUDING REMARKS

In conclusion, Loreman et al. (2007b) stress that pre-service teacher education is vital to the continued development and success of inclusive educational practices (Dev, 2002; Loreman et al., 2005). Florian (2009) asks whether teacher education can respond to the challenge of diversity without relying on different kinds of programmes and services for different types of pupils and therefore whether it is possible to develop more equitable ways of working in schools through the reform of teacher education. Darling-Hammond (2006) however, provides a succinct summary of the common features that *'help programs confront many core dilemmas of teacher education'* (p. 41):

- A common, clear vision of good teaching permeates all course work and clinical work.
- Well-defined standards of practice and performance are used to guide and evaluate coursework and clinical work.
- Curriculum is grounded in knowledge of child and adolescent development, learning, social contexts and subject matter pedagogy, taught in the context of practice.
- Extended clinical experiences are carefully developed to support the ideas and practices presented in simultaneous, closely inter-woven coursework.
- Explicit strategies help students (1) confront their own beliefs and assumptions about learning and students and (2) learn about the experiences of people different from themselves.
- Strong relationships, common knowledge, and shared beliefs link school-and university based faculty.
- Case study methods, teacher research, performance assessments and portfolio evaluation apply learning to real problems of practice.

The last word comes from disabled young people themselves, who in the Lisbon Declaration (Soriano et al., 2008) said: '*Teachers need to be motivated, to be well informed about and understand our needs. They need to be well trained, ask us what we need and to be well co-ordinated among themselves*' (p. 22).

The Agency Teacher Education for Inclusion project aims to support such practice, contributing to the development of teachers equipped with the competences needed for inclusive education. As Cochran-Smith points out: 'teaching and teacher education for social justice are fundamental to the learning and life chances of all teachers and pupils who are current and future participants in a diverse democratic nation and who are able both to imagine and work towards a more just society' (p. 5).



#### REFERENCES

Abu El-Haj, T. R., Rubin, B. C. (2009) Realizing the Equity-Minded Aspirations of Detracking and Inclusion: Toward a Capacity-Oriented Framework for Teacher Education. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 39 (3), Ontario Institute for Studies in Education

Aelterman A. et al. (2008) *Een nieuw profiel voor de eraar secundair onderwijs: hoe worden leraren daartoe gevormd? informatiebrochure bij de invoering van het nieuwe beroepsprofiel en de basiscompetenties voor leraren.* [How are teachers educated for the job? A new profile for the secondary school teacher] Brussel: VMOV – Entiteit curriculum

Ahlberg, A., Målqvist, M. and Welin, A. (2005) *Competence to meet the needs of everybody. Special Education in School-Located studies*, Available online at: http://gupea.ub.gu.se/dspace/handle/2077/18139 Last accessed: 22/03/10

Ainscow, M., Conteh, J., Dyson, A. and Gallanaugh, F. (2007) *Children in Primary Education: demography, culture, diversity and inclusion* (Primary Review Research Survey 5/1), Cambridge: University of Cambridge Faculty of Education

Ainscow, M. (2007) Teaching for Diversity: the next big challenge. In Connelly, M., He, M. F. and Phillion, J. (eds.) *The Handbook of Curriculum and Instruction*, Sage Publications

Ajzen, I. (1991) The Theory of Planned Behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision processes*, 50, 179-211

Alexander, R. J. (2004) Still no pedagogy? Principle, pragmatism and compliance in primary education. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 34 (1), 7-33

Alexander R. (2008a) *Education for All, the Quality Imperative and the Problem of Pedagogy,* CREATE (Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity) Research Monograph, No 20, University of London Institute of Education

Alexander, R. (2008b) Essays on Pedagogy Oxford: Routledge

Alghazo, E., Dodeen, H. and Algaryouti, I. (2003) Attitudes of pre-service teachers towards persons with disabilities: predictions for the success of inclusion. *College Student Journal*, 37 (3), 515-522

Alton-Lee, A. (2003) *Quality teaching for diverse students in school: Best evidence synthesis.* Wellington, NZ: Ministry of Education

Ambrukaitis J., Udriene G., Bagdoniene V. and Rimdeikiene S. (2004) *Evaluation of teachers' professional competences in the aspect of meeting special educational needs*: Research Report, Available online at: http://www.smm.lt/svietimo\_bukle/docs/Atask.%20 ministerijai.doc Last accessed 22/03/10

Andrews, L. (2002) Preparing general education pre-service teachers for inclusion: Webenhanced case-based instruction, *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 17, 27-35

Arnesen, A., Allen, J. and Simonsen, E. (eds.) (2009) *Policies and Practices for teaching socio-cultural diversity. Concepts, principles and challenges in teacher education. Strasbourg, Council of Europe* 

Atkinson, D. (2004) Theorising how student teachers form their identities in initial education. *British Educational Research Journal*, 30 (3), 379-394

Avramidis, E., Bayliss, P. and Burden, R. (2000) A survey into mainstream teachers' attitudes towards the inclusion of children with special educational needs in the ordinary classroom in one local educational authority, *Educational Psychology*, 20 (2), 191-211



Avramidis, E. and Norwich, B. (2002) Teachers' attitudes towards integration/inclusion: a review of the literature. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 17 (2), 129-147

Baglieri, S. (2007) *Constructing the LRE*. Paper presented at Disability Studies in Education conference. Chicago, IL

Bailleul, P., Bataille, A., Langlois, C., Lanoe, P. and Mazereau, P. (2008) *De l'intégration à la scolarisation des élèves handicapés : état des lieux et nouveaux besoins de formation des enseignants: Éclairages sur la situation européenne* [From disabled pupils' integration to inclusive schooling: current situation and new teacher training needs. Shedding light on the European situation] (Research Report) Centre d'études et de recherche en sciences de l'éducation (CERSE) Université de Caen Basse-Normandie Recherche réalisée pour l'UNSA éducation avec le concours de l'IRES, Available online at: http://www.unicaen.fr/ recherche/mrsh/files/Rapport.SEH\_.pdf Last accessed: 22/03/10

Bain, A., Lancaster, J., Zundans L. and Parkes, R. J. (2009) Embedding Evidence-Based Practice in Pre-Service Teacher Preparation. *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children,* 32, 215

Bakken, J. P., Aloia, G. F. and Aloia, S. F. (2002) Preparing all teachers for all students in Obiakor, F. E., Grant P. A. and Dooley E. A. (eds.) *Educating all Learners: Refocusing on the Comprehensive Support model,* Springfield, II; Charles C. Thomas 84-98

Ballard, K. (2003) The analysis of context: Some thoughts on teacher education, culture, colonization and inequality. In Booth T., Nes K., and Stromstad M. (eds.) *Developing inclusive teacher education*, London: Routledge/Falmer

Barrett, D. and Green, K. (2009) Pedagogical content knowledge as a foundation for an inter-disciplinary graduate program. *Science Educator,* Spring 2009, 18 (1)

Bartak, L., and Fry, J. (2004) Are students with special needs in mainstream classes adequately supported? *Australian Journal of Learning Disabilities,* 9 (1), 16-21

Bartell C. A. (2001) Bridging the Disconnect between Policy and Practice in Teacher Education *Teacher Education Quarterly*, Winter 2001

Bartolo, P. A. (2010) Teacher education online. Towards inclusive virtual learning communities. In Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Bartolo, P. A., Mol Lous, A. and Hofhass, T. (2007) *Responding to student diversity: Teacher Education and Classroom Practice*. Proceedings of the International Conference on Teacher Education for Responding to Student Diversity Malta 14–16 June 2007 (Final conference of Socrates Comenius 2.1 Project Differentiated Teaching Module – Primary: Preparing trainee teachers to respond to pupils diversity. University of Malta)

Beard, R., Crook, D., Merchant, G., Muttock, S., Roberts, L. and Robertson, A. (2007) *A Study of the Structure, Content and Quality of Teacher Education Across the European Union (Public Sector Primary Education).* Report commissioned by Committee on Culture and Education European Parliament

Black-Hawkins, K., Florian, L. and Rouse, M. (2007) *Achievement and Inclusion in schools*. London: Routledge

Blanton, L. P. and Pugach, M. C. (2007) *Collaborative programs in general and special teacher education: An action guide for higher education and state policy makers.* Washington, D.C.: Council of Chief State School Officers, Available online at:



http://www.ccsso.org/content/pdfs/CPGSTE%20Action%20Guide%20PDF%20Final.pdf Last accessed 22/03/10

Boger, C. and Boger, D. (2000) Preservice teachers' explanations of their teaching behavior, *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 27, 217-223

Boling, E. (2007) 'Yeah, but I still don't want to deal with it'. Changes in a Teacher Candidate's Conceptions of Inclusion. *Teaching Education*, 18 (3), September 2007, 217-231

Bondy, E., Ross, D., Adams, A., Nowak, R., Brownell, M., Hoppey, D., Kuhel, K., McCallum, C. and Stafford, L. (2007) Personal Epistemologies and Learning to Teach. *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children*, 30, 67

Booth, T. and Ainscow, M. (2002) *Index of Inclusion: developing learning and participation in schools,* Bristol: Centre for Studies on Inclusive Education (CSIE)

Booth, T. and Dyssegaard, B. (2008) *Quality is not enough, the contribution of inclusive values to the development of Education for All*, Copenhagen, Danida

Bransford, J., Darling-Hammond, L. and LePage, P. (2005) Introduction in Darling-Hammond, L. Bransford, J. (eds.) (2005) *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What teachers should learn and be able to do.* San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass

Britzman, D. P. (2003) *Practice makes practice*. New York: State University of New York Press

Brownell, M. T., Ross, D. D., Colon, E. P. and McCallum, C. L. (2005) Critical features of special education teacher preparation: A comparison with general teacher education. *The Journal of Special Education,* 38 (4), 242-252

Brownlee, J. and Carrington, S. (2000) Opportunities for authentic experience and reflection: a teaching programme designed to change attitudes towards disability for preservice teachers. *Support for Learning*, 15 (3), 99-105

Burant, T. J., Chubbuck, S. M. and Whipp, J. L. (2007) Reclaiming the moral in the dispositions debate. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 58 (5), 397-411

Campbell, J., Gilmore, L. and Cuskelly, M. (2003) Changing student teachers' attitudes towards disability and inclusion. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 28 (4), 369-379

Candeias, A. A. (Coord.), De Vreese, J., Ljusberg, A. L., Brodin, J., Falcó, C. N., Calzada, J. V., Bernat, E., Evans J. and Cabral, M. N. (2008) *Teacher Training: IRIS – Improvement through Research in Inclusive Schools: A multidimensional approach to assessment, planning and intervention*. CIEP – Centro de Investigação em Educação e Psicologia: Catarina Dias, Nicole Rebelo and João Silva (IRIS 128735-CP-1-2006-1-BE-COMENIUS-C21)

Cardona, C. M. (2009) Teacher education students' beliefs of inclusion and perceived competence to teach students with disabilities in Spain. *Journal of the International Association of Special Education*, 10 (1), 33-41

Carini, P. (2001) *Starting strong: A different look at children, schools and standards.* NY: Teachers' College Press

Carrington, S., Saggers, B. (2008) Service-learning informing the development of an inclusive ethical framework for beginning teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24, 795-806



Carroll, A., Forlin, C. and Jobling, A. (2003) The impact of teacher training in special education on the attitudes of Australian pre-service general educators towards people with disabilities. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 30 (3), 65-79

Casanova, R., Charentin, P., Cosnard, B., Croisy, J. P., Jollec, M. P., and Rault, C. (2006) French beginning teachers confront special educational needs in some of their pupils In Gash, H. (ed.) *Beginning teachers and diversity in school: A European Study*. (Instituto Politécnico de Bragança Report of research undertaken within Comenius Project 94158-CP-1-2001-FR)

Chambers, D. and Forlin, C. (2010) Initial teacher education and inclusion. In Forlin, C. (ed) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Chandler, L. K. (2000) A training and consultation model to reduce resistance and increase educator knowledge and skill in addressing challenging behaviours. *Special Education Perspectives*, 9 (1), 3-13

Chevalier, R. M. (2006) *Pour une école inclusive… Quelle formation pour des enseignants*? [For an inclusive school... What training for teachers?] International Conference, IUFM de Créteil, November 24–26, 2005, Sceren, CRDP de l'académie de Créteil

Ching, S., Forlin, C. and Mei Lan, A. (2007) The influence of an inclusive education course on attitude change of pre-service secondary teachers in Hong Kong. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 35 (2), 161-179

Chionna, A., Elia, G., Rossini, V., Santelli, L. and Villani, C. (2006) Helping beginning teachers take account of pupils' special educational needs in Italy. In Gash, H. (ed.) *Beginning teachers and diversity in school: A European Study.* (Instituto Politécnico de Bragança Report of research undertaken within Comenius Project 94158-CP-1-2001-FR)

Cochran-Smith, M. (2002) What's preparation got to do with it? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 53 (2), 99-101

Cochran-Smith, M. (2003) Teaching quality matters. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 54 (2), 95-98

Cochran-Smith, M. (2004) *Walking the road: race, diversity and social justice in teacher education.* Multicultural Education Series. New York and London, Teachers College, Columbia University

Cochran-Smith, M. (2005) Teacher Education and the Outcomes Trap. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 56 (5), 411

Cochran-Smith, M. (2008) Toward a theory of teacher education for social justice. Paper prepared for the Annual Meeting of the *American Educational Reseach Association* New York City, March 2008

Conderman, G., Katsiyannis, A. and Franks, D. (2001) Program assessment practices in special education teacher preparation programs. *Preventing School Failure*, 45 (4), 182-186

Conderman, G. (2003) Using portfolios in undergraduate special education teacher education programs. *Preventing School Failure*, 47 (3), 106-111

Conderman, G., Morin, J. and Stephens, J. T. (2005) Special education student teaching practices. *Preventing School Failure*, 49 (3), 5-10



Cook, B. G. (2002) Inclusive attitudes, strengths, and weaknesses of pre-service general educators enrolled in a curriculum infusion teacher preparation program. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 25, 262-277

Cook, B. G., Landrum, T. J., Tankersly, M. and Kauffman, J. M. (2003) Bring research to bear on practice: Effecting evidence-based instruction for students with emotional or behavioral disorders. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 26, 345-361

Cook, B. G. and Cook, L. (2004) Bringing science into the classroom by basing craft on research. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 37, 240-247

Cook, L. (2007) When in Rome: influences on special education student-teachers' teaching. *International Journal of Special Education*, 22 (3), 119-130

Commission of the European Communities (2007) Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament: *Improving the Quality of Teacher Education* 3/08/2007 Link: http://ec.europa.eu/education/com392\_en.pdf

Commission of the European Communities (2008) Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of Regions Brussels 3/7/2008 *Improving competences for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century: An agenda for European Cooperation in schools.* Link: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2008:0425:FIN:EN:PDF

Commission of the European Union (2008) Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: *An updated strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training*, Brussels 16/12/2008 Link: http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc/com865\_en.pdf

Council for Exceptional Children (2003) *What every special educator must know: The standards for the preparation and licensure of special educators.* 5th edition, Reston, VA: Author

Council of the European Union (2007) Conclusions of the Council and of the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States, meeting within the Council of 15 November 2007, on *improving the quality of teacher education* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2007:300:0006:0009:EN:PDF

Council of the European Union (2008) Council conclusions on *preparing young people for the 21st century: an agenda for European cooperation on schools.* 2905th Education, Youth and Culture Council meeting, Brussels 21/11/2008 Link: http://www.consilium. europa.eu/uedocs/cms\_Data/docs/pressdata/en/educ/104238.pdf

Council of the European Union (2009) Council conclusions on *a strategic framework* for European cooperation in education and training (ET2020) (12 May 2009) http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:119:0002:0010:EN:PDF

Council of the European Union (2009) Council conclusions on *the professional development of teachers and school leaders* Brussels, 6 November 2009 Link: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:302:0006:0009:EN:PDF

Council of the European Union (2010) Council conclusions on *the social dimension of education and training*. 3013th Education, Youth and Culture meeting, Brussels, 11 May 2010 http://www.european-agency.org/news/news-files/Council-Conclusions-May-2010-Social-Dimension.pdf

Cushner, K. (2006) *Human diversity in action: Developing multicultural competences for the classroom,* 3rd edition, Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill



Daniels, H. and Porter, J. (2007) *Learning Needs and Difficulties Among Children of Primary School Age: definition, identification, provision and issues.* (Primary Review Research Survey 5/2), Cambridge: University of Cambridge Faculty of Education

Darling-Hammond, L. (2003) Keeping good teachers – why it matters, what leaders can do. *Educational Leadership*, 60 (8), 6-13

Darling-Hammond, L. (2006) Constructing 21<sup>st</sup> Century Teacher Education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 57 (3), 300

Darling-Hammond, L. Bransford, J. (eds.) (2005) *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What teachers should learn and be able to do.* San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass

Davis, P. and Florian, L. (2004a) Searching the literature on teaching strategies and approaches for pupils with special educational needs: knowledge production and synthesis. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 4 (3), 142-147

Davis, P. and Florian, L. (2004b) *Teaching Strategies and Approaches for Pupils with Special Educational Needs: A Scoping Study.* London: DfES

Day, C., Sammons, P., Hopkins, D., Harris, A., Leithwood, K., Gu, Q., Brown, E., Ahtaridou, E. and Kington, A. (2009) *The Impact of School Leadership on Pupil Outcomes. Final Report.* DCSF Research Report RR108, University of Nottingham

Department for Education and Skills (2006) *2020 Vision: The Report of the Teaching and Learning in 2020 Review Group*. Available online at: http://publications.teachernet.gov.uk/eOrderingDownload/6856-DfES-Teaching%20and%20Learning.pdf Last accessed 22/03/10

Derman-Sparks, L. (1989) *Anti-bias curriculum: Tools for empowering young children.* Washington, D.C.: National Association for the Education of Young Children

Dev, P. (2002) Not a game of chance: The importance of pre-service education for successful inclusion (Paper presented at CEC Annual Convention, New York)

Dottin, E. S. (2009) Professional judgment and dispositions in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (1), 83-88

Edwards, A., Gilroy, P. and Hartley, D. (2002) *Re-thinking teacher education: collaborative responses to uncertainty*. London: Routledge/Falmer

Edwards, A. and Protheroe, L. (2003) Learning to See in Classrooms. *British Educational Research Journal*, 29 (2), 227-242

Edwards, S. and Kuhlman, W. (2007) Culturally Responsive Teaching: Do We Walk Our Talk? *Multicultural Education*, July 2007, 45-49

Elchardus, M., Huyge, E., Kavadias, D. Siongers, J. and Vangoidsenhoven, G. (2009) *Leraars. Profiel van een beroepsgroep* [Teachers. The profile of a profession] LannooCampus, Tielt

Elhoweris, H. and Alsheikh, N. (2006) Teachers' attitudes toward inclusion. *International Journal of Special Education*, 21 (1), 115-118

Esteve, J. M. (2009) La formación de profesores; bases teoricas para el desarrollo de programas de formación inicial [Teacher training. Theoretical basis for the development of pre-service training programmes] *Revista de Educación,* 350, Septiembre-Diciembre, 15-29



European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education (2009) *Multicultural Diversity and Special Needs Education*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education (2009) *Key Principles for Promoting Quality in Inclusive Education – Recommendations for Policy Makers.* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

European Commission Comenius Project: IRIS 128735-CP-1-2006-1-BE-COMENIUS-C21. *Improvement through Research in the Inclusive School* 

European Commission Education and Training 2010 programme, *Cluster 'Teachers and Trainers', Cluster 'Key Competences – Curriculum Development'* Joint seminar Report, 3–4 April 2008 Link: http://ec.europa.eu/education/policies/2010/doc/teacherreport\_en.pdf

European Commission Knowledge System for Lifelong Learning: Teachers and Trainers' Peer Learning Cluster. Link:

http://www.kslll.net/PeerLearningClusters/clusterDetails.cfm?id=14

European Parliament Resolution on *improving the quality of teacher education* 23/09/2008 Link: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?type=TA&reference=P6-TA-2008-0422&language=EN

European Commission DG Education, Culture and Lifelong Learning (2007) 'How can Teacher Education and Training policies prepare teachers to teach effectively in culturally diverse settings?' Education and Training 2010 programme Cluster 'Teachers and Trainers 'Report of the Peer Learning Activity, Oslo, May 2007 Available online at: http://www.kslll.net/Documents/PLA\_Teaching%20effectively%20in%20culturally%20diver se%20settings\_May%2007.pdf, Last accessed 19/03/10

European Commission DG Education, Culture and Lifelong Learning (2007) Practical classroom training within Initial Teacher Education '*What are the policy conditions for the successful implementation of classroom practice in Initial Teacher Education*? Education and Training 2010 programme Cluster 'Teachers and Trainers' Report of a Peer Learning Activity (PLA) in Vilnius, Lithuania, October 2009. Available online at: http://www.kslll.net/ Documents/PLA\_Teachers%20and%20trainers\_Oct%2009.pdf Last accessed 19/03/10

Feiman-Nemser, S. (2001) From preparation to practice: Designing a continuum to strengthen and sustain teaching. *Teachers College Record*, 103, 1013-1055

Fenstermacher, G. (2002) Reconsidering the teacher education reform debate: A commentary on Cochran-Smith and Fries. *Educational Researcher*, 31 (6), 20-22

Ferreira, H. and Graça, R. (2006) Special educational needs: An experiment in teacher education in Portugal. In Gash, H. (ed.) *Beginning teachers and diversity in school: A European Study.* Instituto Politécnico de Bragança Report of research undertaken within Comenius Project 94158-CP-1-2001-FR

Feuer, M., Towne, L. and Shavelson, R. (2002) Reply to commentators on 'Scientific culture and educational research'. *Educational Researcher*, 31 (8), 28-29

Feyerer, E. (2006) Lehrerbildung für eine integrative/inklusive Schule. [Teacher training for integration / inclusion in schools] In: *Erziehung und Unterricht, Österreichische Pädagogische Zeitschrift*, Heft 1/2 2006, 156. Jg., 57-64

Feyerer, E., Niedermair, C. and Tuschel, S. (2006) *Berufsfeld Sonder- und Integrationspädagogik*. Positionspapier zur Aus- und Weiterbildung an den Pädagogischen Hochschulen. [Special Needs Education and Inclusive Education – Training and Professional Qualifications. Position paper on initial and further and in-service training at



the University of Education] Available online at: http://www.cisonline.at/fileadmin/ kategorien/Positionspapier\_Lehrerinnenbildung\_8.4.08.pdf Last accessed 1/3/2010 and http://www.cisonline.at/fileadmin/kategorien/Position\_Paper\_Teacher\_Training\_14.5.2008. pdf Last accessed 1/3/2010

Fletcher, M. and Pascoe, L. (2008) *Focusing on cultural considerations in teacher and leader practice – Will this lead to inclusive schools?* Paper presented at British Educational Research Association Conference Edinburgh, 3–6 September

Florian, L. (2007) Re-imagining special education. In Florian, L. (ed.) *The SAGE handbook of special education.* London: SAGE publications

Florian, L. (2009) Preparing teachers to work in 'schools for all'. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 533-534

Florian, L. and Rouse, M. (2009) The inclusive practice project in Scotland: Teacher education for inclusive education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 594-601

Forlin, C. (2001) Inclusion: Identifying potential stressors for regular class teachers. *Educational Research*, 43 (3), 235-245

Forlin, C. (2008) Education reform for inclusion in the Asia-Pacific Region: What about Teacher Education? In Forlin, C. and Lian, Ming-Gon John (eds.) (2008) *Reform, Inclusion and Teacher Education: Towards a new era of special education in the Asia-Pacific region.* London: Routledge

Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Forlin, C. (2010) Future directions for teacher education for inclusion. In Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Forlin, C., Jobling, A., and Carroll, A. (2001) Pre-service teachers' discomfort levels toward people with disabilities. *Journal of International Special Needs Education*, 4, 32-38

Forlin, C. and Hopewell, T. (2006) Inclusion – the heart of the matter: trainee teachers' perceptions of a parent's journey. *British Journal of Special Education*, 33 (2), 55-61

Forlin, C. and Lian, Ming-Gon John (eds.) (2008) *Reform, Inclusion and Teacher Education: Towards a new era of special education in the Asia-Pacific region*. London: Routledge

Forlin, C., Loreman, T., Sharma, U. and Earle, C. (2009) Demographic differences in changing pre-service teachers' attitudes, sentiments and concerns about inclusive education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 13 (2), 195-209

Forlin, C., Tait, K., Carroll A. and Jobling, A. (1999) Teacher education for diversity. *Queensland Journal of Educational Research*, 15 (2), 207-226

Franzkowiak, T. (2009) Integration, Inklusion, Gemeinsamer Unterricht – Themen für die Grundschullehramtsausbildung an Hochschulen in Deutschland? Eine Bestandsaufnahme. [Integration, inclusion, inclusive education – topics of primary school teacher training at universities in Germany? A Survey] Bidok Digitale Volltextbibliothek, Available online at: http://bidok.uibk.ac.at/library/franzkowiak-integration.html Last accessed 21/03/10

Garcia Huidobro, J. E. (2005) *La igualdad en educación como bien democratico y de desarollo*. Ponencia presentada en la Reunion del Comite Intergubermental del PRELAC, organizada por la UNESCO-OREALC, Santiago de Chile, 6 y 7 de diciembre de 2005.



[Equality in Education as a democratic good for development. Paper submitted to the meeting of the Intergovernmental Committee of PRELAC, organised by UNESCO-OREALC, Santiago de Chile, 6–7 December 2005]

Gallagher, D. J. (2004) The importance of constructivism and constructivist pedagogy for disability studies in education. *Disability Studies Quarterly,* Spring 2004, 24 (2)

Garman, M. (2005) Six key factors for changing pre-service teachers' attitudes and beliefs about diversity. *Education Studies* 38 (3), 275-286

Gary, F. A., Leon, C. E., Garvan, C. W. and Reid, R. (2002) General classroom teachers' information and perceptions of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Behavioral Disorders*, 27 (4), 327-339

Gash, H. (ed.) (2006) *Beginning teachers and diversity in school: A European Study.* Instituto Politécnico de Bragança Report of research undertaken within Comenius Project 94158-CP-1-2001-FR

Gay, G. and Kirkland, K. (2003) Developing cultural critical consciousness and self-reflection in pre-service teacher education. *Theory into Practice* 42 (3), 181-187

General Teaching Council for England (2008) *Behaviour for Learning – engaging with research GTC Networks.* Available online at: http://www.gtce.org.uk/network/bfl/behaviour\_for\_learning.pdf

Gersten, R. (2001) Sorting out the roles of research in the improvement of practice. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 16, 45-50

Gersten, R. and Dimino, J. (2001) The realities of translating research into classroom practice. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 16, 120-130

Giangreco, M., Edelman, S. and Dennis, R. (1991) Common professional practices that interfere with the integrated delivery of related services. *Remedial and Special Education*, 12, 16-24

Glaser, R. (1996) Changing the agency for learning; Acquiring expert performance. In Ericsson, K. A. (ed.) *The road to excellence: The acquisition of expert performance in arts and sciences, sports and games.* 303-311. Mahwah, N J: Lawrence Erlbaum

Golder, G., Norwich, B. and Bayliss, P. (2005) Preparing teachers to teach pupils with special educational needs in more inclusive schools: evaluating a PGCE development. *British Journal of Special Education*, 32 (2), 92-99

Goldhaber, D. D. (2004) Why do we license teachers? In Hess, F. M., Rotherham, A. J. and Walsh K. (eds.) *A qualified teacher in every classroom? Appraising old answers and new ideas*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press

Goldhaber, D. D. and Brewer, D. J. (2000) Does teacher certification matter? High school teacher certification status and student achievement. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 17, 260-268

Gould, A., and Vaughn, S. (2000) Planning for the inclusive classroom: meeting the needs of diverse classrooms. *Catholic Education*, 3 (3), 363-374

Gregory, E. and Williams, A. (2000) City Literacies. London: Routledge

Griffin, C. C., Jones, H. A. and Kilgore, K. L. (2006) A Qualitative Study of Student Teachers' Experiences with Collaborative Problem Solving. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 29 (1), 44-55



Gultig, J. (1999) *Can teacher education transform schooling?* Schooling and teaching. In post-apartheid South Africa, AERA 1999 Annual Meeting, Montreal, April 1999

Guðjónsdóttir, H. and Dalmau, M. C. (2002) Framing professional discourse with teachers: Professional Working Theory In: Loughran, J. and Russell, T. (eds.) *Improving Teacher Education Practices through Self-study*. London: Routledge/Falmer

Guðjónsdóttir, H., Cacciattolo, M., Dakich, E., Davies, A., Kelly, C. and Dalmau, M. C. (2008) Transformative Pathways: Inclusive Pedagogies in Teacher Education. In *Journal of Research on Technology in Education* Winter 2007–2008, Volume 40, Number 2

Hadadian, A. and Chiang, L. (2007) Special education training and preservice teachers *International Journal of Special Education* 22 (1), 103-106

Hagger, H. and McIntyre, D. (2006) *Learning teaching from teachers* Maidenhead: Open University Press

Hajkova, V. (2007) *Nová profesionalita pedagogů v inkluzivní školní praxi* [The New Expertise of Teachers in Inclusive School Practice]. In Šimoník, O., Škrabánková, J., Šťáva, J. (eds.) *Dimenze pedagogické práce s nadanými žáky*. Sborník referátů z mezinárodního semináře [CD-ROM]. Brno: MSD, spol. s.r.o. 94-103

Hardman, M. (2009) Redesigning the preparation of all teachers within the framework of an integrated program model. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 583-587

Hargreaves, A. (2003) Teaching in the knowledge society. Maidenhead, OUP

Hargreaves, D. (2006) *Personalising Learning 6: School Design and Organisation*. London: Specialist School and Academies Trust

Hart, S. (1996) *Beyond special needs: Enhancing children's learning through innovative thinking.* London, Paul Chapman

Hart, S. (2000) *Thinking through teaching. A framework for enhancing participation and learning.* London, David Fulton

Hart, S., Dixon, A. Drummond, M. and McIntyre, D. (2004) *Learning without limits.* Maidenhead: Open University Press

Haug, P. (2003) Qualifying teachers for the school for all. In Booth, T., Nes, K. and Strömstrand, M. (eds.) *Developing inclusive teacher education*. London: Routledge Falmer, 97-115

Heylen, L., D'haveloose, E., De Coninck, C., De Bleeckere, N. (2006) *Diverse' lectoren...diverse studenten? Sluitstuk van een jaar nadenken met lectoren en organisaties over diversiteit in de lerarenopleidingen. uk van een jaar nadenken met lectoren en* [Diverse teachers... diverse students? Completion of a year of thinking with teacher educators and organisations about diversity in teacher education]. In opdracht van Vlaams Minister van Werk, Onderwijs en Vorming Frank Vandenbroucke D/2006/3241/153 Brussel, Departement onderwijs en vorming. Available online at: http://www.ond. vlaanderen.be/publicaties/eDocs/pdf/253.pdf, Last accessed 22/03/10

Hiebert, J., Morris, A., Berk D. and Jansen, A. (2007) Preparing Teachers to Learn from Teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 58, 47-61

Hiebert, J., Gallimore, R. and Stigler, J. W. (2002) A knowledge base for the teaching profession: what would it look like and how can we get one? *Educational Researcher,* 31 (5), 3-15



Hoban, G. F. (2004) Seeking quality in teacher education design: A four dimensional approach. *Australian Journal of Education*, 48 (2), 117

Hodkinson, A. (2009) Pre-service teacher training and special educational needs in England 1970–2008: is government learning the lessons of the past or is it experiencing a groundhog day? *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 24 (3), 277-289

Hoover, J, and Patton, J. (2004) Differentiating standards-based education for students with diverse needs. *Remedial and Special Education*, 25 (3), 74-78

Hudson-Ross, S. and Graham, P. (2000) Going public: Making teacher educators' learning explicit as a model for pre-service teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 27 (4), 5-24

Jahnukainen, M. and Korhonen, A. (2003) Integration of students with severe and profound intellectual disabilities into the comprehensive school system: Teachers' perceptions of the educational reform in Finland. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education,* 50 (2), 169-180

Jobling, A. and Moni, K. B. (2004) I never imagined I'd have to teach these children: Providing authentic learning experiences for secondary pre-service teachers in teaching students with special needs. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 32 (1), 5-22

Johnson, L. E. and Battalio, R. (2008) Expanding the boundaries of special education preservice teachers: the impact of a six-week special education study abroad program. *International Journal of Special Education*, 23 (3), 90-100

Johnson, G. and Howell, A. (2009) Change in pre-service teacher attitudes toward contemporary issues in education *International Journal of Special Education*, 24 (2), 35-41

Johnson, M. and Hallgarten, J. (2002) *From victims of change to agents of change: the future of the teaching profession*. London: Institute of Public Policy Research

Jones, T. G. and Fuller, M. L. (2003) *Teaching Hispanic children*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon

Jordan, A., Schwartz, E. and McGhie-Richmond, D. (2009) Preparing teachers for inclusive classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 535-542

Kaikkonen, L., Maunonen-Eskelinen, I. and Aidukiene T. (2007) Supporting Teachers' Competences towards the Development of a More Inclusive School – Listening to the Voices of Students with Special Educational Needs in Educational Transitions. Latvijas Universitātes Raksti. 2007, 715, 132-144, Available online at: http://pdc.ceu.hu/archive/ 00005366/01/715.pdf#page=132 Last accessed 22/03/10

Kaplan, L. S. and Owings, W. A. (2003) The politics of teacher quality. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84 (9), 687-692

Karpljuk, D., Lisec, D., Videmšek, M., Štihec, J. and Masleša, S. (2008) Nekateri vidiki integracije in inkluzije otrok s posebnimi potrebami v procesih vzgoje in izobraževanja [Some aspects of integrating and including children with special needs in the educational process] *Šport, letnik,* 56 št.1/2, 2008, str. 26-33

Kavkler, M. (2009) Vloga pri uresničevanju inkluzije [The teacher's role in inclusion] *Vzgoja in izobraževanje,* letnik 40 št. 5-6, 2009, str. 6-11

Keil, S., Miller, O. and Cobb, R. (2006) Special educational needs and disability *British Journal of Special Education*, 33 (4), 168-172

Kershner, R. (2007) What do teachers need to know about meeting special educational needs? In Florian, L. (ed.) *The SAGE Handbook of Special Education 2007*. London: SAGE Publications



Killoran, I., Panaroni, M., Rivers, S., Razack, Y., Vetter, D., and Tymon, D. (2004) Rethink, revise, react: Using an anti-bias curriculum to move beyond the usual. *Childhood Education*, 80, 149-156

Knight, J. (2002) Crossing boundaries: What constructivists can teach intensive-explicit instructors and vice-versa. *Focus on Exceptional Children,* 35 (4), 1-1

Korthagen, F. and Lunenberg, M. (2004) Links between self-study and teacher education reform. In Loughran J., Hamilton, M. L., Laboskey, V. and Russell, T. (eds.) *International handbook of self-study of teaching and teacher education practice*. Dordrecht/Boston/ London: Kluwer Academic Publishers

Korthagen, F., Loughran, J. and Lunenberg, M. (2005) Teaching teachers: Studies into the expertise of teacher educators. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21 (2), 107-115

Korthagen, F., Loughran, J., Russell, T. (2006) Developing fundamental principles for teacher education programs and practices. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 22 (8), 1020-1041

Kosnik, C. and Beck, C. (2009) *Priorities in Teacher Education: The 7 Key Elements of Pre-service Preparation.* Oxford: Routledge

Kumashiro, K. K. (2000) Toward a theory of anti-oppressive education. *Review of Educational Research*, 70 (1), 25-53

Kyriakou, C., Avramidis, E., Høie, H., Stephens, P. and Hultgren, Å. (2007) The development of student teachers' views on pupil misbehaviour during an initial teacher training programme in England and Norway. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 33 (3), 293-307

Kyriazopoulou, M. and Weber, H. (eds.) (2009) *Development of a set of indicators – for inclusive education in Europe,* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Lambe, J. (2007) Student teachers, special educational needs and inclusion education: reviewing the potential for problem-based, e-learning pedagogy to support practice. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 33 (3), 359-377

Lambe, J. and Bones, R. (2006a) Student teachers attitudes to inclusion; implications for Initial Teacher Education in Northern Ireland. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 10 (6), 511-527

Lambe, J. and Bones, R. (2006b) Student teachers' perceptions about inclusive classroom teaching in Northern Ireland prior to teaching practice experience. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 21 (2), 167-186

LaMontagne, M., Kenney, S. and Nelson, M. (2001) *Multidimensional uses of portfolio process: Assessment, reflective teaching and employment.* Paper presented at the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children Conference, April 2001, St. Petersburg, FL

Lancaster, J. and Bain, A. (2007) The Design of Inclusive Education Courses and The Self-Efficacy of Preservice Teacher Education Students. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 54 (2), 245-256

Lapostolle, G. and Chevallier, T. (2009) Formación inicial de los docents de colegios en Francia [Pre-service teacher training in France] *Revista de Educación,* 350 Septiembre-Deciembre, 145-172



Larrivee, B. (2000) Transforming training practice: Becoming the critically reflective teacher. *Reflective Practice,* 1 (3), 293-307

Leadbeater, C. (2008) *Learning about personalisation; How can we put the learner at the heart of the education system?* DEMOS/National College for School Leadership. Innovation Unit. Available on line at: http://www.innovation-unit.co.uk/images/stories/files/pdf/Learningaboutpersonalisation.pdf Last accessed 22/03/2010

Lesar, I. (2007) *Osnovna šola kot inkluzivno naravnana institucija: doktorska disertacija* [Elementary School as an Inclusion-Oriented Institution: Doctoral Dissertation] Available online at: http://www.dlib.si/?urn=URN:NBN:SI:doc-ERVTXYWZ Last accessed 22/03/10

Lewis, A., Norwich, B. (eds.) (2005) *Special teaching for special children.* Maidenhead, Oxford University Press

Linikko, J. (2009) 'Det gäller att hitta nyckeln...': Lärares syn på undervisning och dilemman för inkludering av elever i behov av särskilt stöd i specialskola. ['It's a matter of finding the right key...': Teachers' perceptions of teaching and the dilemmas for inclusion of pupils in special schools who have extra need of special support] Available online (with English summary) at: http://su.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2:200384 Last accessed 22/03/10

Lipman, P. (1997) Restructuring in context: A case study of teacher participation and the dynamics of ideology, race and power. *American Education Research Journal*, 34 (1), 3-37

Loreman, T. (2002) *Teacher Education and Inclusion*. Paper presented at the XIII World Congress of Inclusion International, September 2002, Melbourne, Australia

Loreman, T. (2010) A content-infused approach to pre-service teacher preparation for inclusive education in Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Loreman, T. and Deppeler, J. (2001) Inclusive Education in Victoria: The UNESCO Education for All 2000 Assessment. *Interaction*, 14 (2 and 3), 13-17

Loreman, T., Deppeler, J. and Harvey, D. (2005) *Inclusive Education: A practical guide to supporting diversity in the classroom*. Sydney: Allen and Unwin

Loreman, T. and Earle, C. (2007) The development of attitudes, sentiments and concerns about inclusive education in a content-infused Canadian teacher preparation program. *Exceptionality Education Canada*, 17 (1), 85-106

Loreman, T. Earle, C. Sharma, U. and Forlin, C. (2007a) The development of an instrument for measuring pre-service teachers' sentiments, attitudes, and concerns about inclusive education. *International Journal of Special Education*, 22 (2), 150-160

Loreman, T, Forlin, C. and Sharma, U. (2007b) An International Comparison of Preservice Teacher Attitudes towards Inclusive Education. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 27 (4)

Loreman, T., Sharma, U., Forlin, C. and Earle, C. (2005) *Pre-service teachers' attitude and concerns regarding inclusive education*. Paper presented at the Inclusive and Supportive Education Congress (ISEC) August, 2005, Glasgow, Scotland

Mahat, M. (2008) The development of a psychometrically-sound instrument to measure teachers' multidimensional attitudes toward inclusive education *International Journal of Special Education*, 23 (1) 82-92



Malone, D. M., Gallagher, P. A. and Long, S. R. (2001) General education teachers' attitudes and perceptions of teamwork supporting children with developmental concerns. *Early Education and Development*, 12 (4), 577-592

Mansvelder-Longayroux, D., Beijaard, D. and Verloop, N. (2007) The portfolio as a tool for stimulating reflection by student teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23, 47-62

Mattson, E., Heimdahl, H. and Malmgren, A. (2009) Inclusive and Exclusive Education in Sweden: Principals' Opinions and Experiences. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 24 (4), 465-472

Mattsson, M., Dage Ore, H. and Pisila, S. (2006) *Vad är värdefull specialpedagogisk kunskap?* [What knowledge is of value in Special Education?] Stockholm: Lärarhögsk

McHatton, P. A. and Daniel, P. L. (2008) Co-Teaching at the Pre-Service Level: Special Education Majors Collaborate with English Education Majors. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 31 (2), 118-131

McIntyre, D. J., Byrd, D. M. and Foxx, S. M. (1996) Field and laboratory experiences. In Houston, W. R., Haberman, M. and Sikula, J. (eds.), *Handbook of research on teacher education: A project of the association of teacher educators*. New York: Macmillan

McKinsey and Co. (2007) *How the world's best performing school systems come out on top.* Available online at: http://www.mckinsey.com/locations/UK\_Ireland/~/media/Reports/UKI/Education\_report.ashx Last accessed 19/03/2010

McKnight, D. (2004) An inquiry of NCATE's move into virtue ethics by way of dispositions (Is This What Aristotle Meant?) *Educational Studies*, 35 (3), 212-230

McLeskey, J. and Ross, D. (2004) The Politics of Teacher Education in the New Millennium: Implications for Special Education Teacher Educators. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 27 (4), 342-349

McLeskey, J., Waldron, N. L., So, T. H., Swanson, K. and Loveland, T. (2001) Perspectives of teachers toward inclusive school programs. *Teacher education and special education*, 24 (2), 108-115

McMahon, C. M. and McNamara, K. (2000) Leading a horse to water? Teacher preparation for problem solving consultation. Paper presented at the *Annual Meeting of the National Association of School Psychologists*, New Orleans, LO

Medves, Z. (2006) Upoštevanje drugačnosti – korak k šoli enakih možnosti [Taking otherness into account – a step towards schools of equal opportunities] *Sodobna pedagogika*, Letn. 57 (123)

Meijer, C. J. W. (ed.) (2003) *Inclusive Education and Classroom Practice*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Meijer, C. J. W., Soriano, V. and Watkins, A. (eds.) (2006) *Provision in Post-Primary Education.* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Merryfield, M. M. (2000) Why aren't teachers being prepared to teach for diversity, equity and global interconnectedness? A study of lived experiences in the making of multicultural and global educators. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 16, 79-90

Miller, M. (2008) What Do Students Think about Inclusion? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 89 (5), 389-391



Milner, H. R. and Tenore, F. B. (2010) Curriculum planning and development: implications for a new generation of teacher educators. In Burns, T. and Shadoian-Gersing, V. (eds.) *Educating Teachers for Diversity – Meeting the Challenge,* Paris, OECD CERI

Mintz, J. (2007) Attitudes of primary initial teacher training students to special educational needs and inclusion. *Support for Learning,* vol 22, no 1

Mitchell, D. (ed.) (2005) Contextualising Inclusive Education Evaluating old and new international perspectives. London: Routledge

Molina, S. (2006) Teacher education students' and first year in-service teachers' perceptions about their initial education in relation to the special educational needs of Spanish pupils. In Gash, H. (ed.) *Beginning teachers and diversity in school: A European Study.* Instituto Politécnico de Bragança Report of research undertaken within Comenius Project 94158-CP-1-2001-FR

Moran, A. (2009) Can a competence or standards model facilitate an inclusive approach to teacher education? *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 13 (1), 45-61

Muñoz, E. (2009) La formación del profesorado de Educación Secundaria: contenidos y aprendizajes docents [Secondary Education Teacher Training; teaching content and teacher's learning] *Revista de Educación*, 350, Septiembre-Diciembre, 79-103

National Council for the Accreditation of Teacher Education (2002) *Professional Standards for the Accreditation of Schools, Colleges, and Departments of Education.* Washington D.C.

Naukkarinen, A. (2004) Osallistava opettajankoulutus. Henkilökunnan ja opiskelijoiden uskomusten sekä laitosorganisaation rakenteiden merkitys opettajankoulutuksen kehittämisessä [Inclusive teacher education. The significance of the beliefs of staff and students as well as organizational structures in developing teacher education] In Hämäläinen, S. (ed.) *Opettajaprofession muutos ja opettajankoulutus*. Jyväskylän yliopisto. Opettajankoulutuslaitos. Tutkimuksia 81

Naukkarinen, A. (2008) *Developing inclusive primary school teacher education: Experiences of Department of Teacher Education at the University of Jyväskylä, Finland* Paper presented at: Cross-National Invitational Symposium on Teacher Education for Inclusion, University of Aberdeen, 2–4 November 2008

Neel, R. S., Cessna, K. K., Borock, J. and Bechard, S. (2003) Quality program indicators for children with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Beyond Behavior*, 12 (3), 3-9

Nevin, A., Thousand, J. and Villa, R. (2009) Collaborative teaching for teacher educators – What does the research say? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (40), 569-574

Niemi, H. and Jukku–Sihvomen, R. (2009) El curriculo en al formación del profesorado de Educación Secundaria. [Curriculum of Secondary School teachers training] *Revista de Educación*, 350, Septiembre-Diciembre, 173-202

Notar, C. E., Riley, G. W., Taylor, P. W., Thornburg, R. A. and Cargill, R. L. (2009) Dispositions: Ability and Assessment *International Journal of Education*, 1 (1), 2-14 Available online at: www.macrothink.org/ije Last accessed on 08/01/10

Nuova, A. (2009) Para una formacion de profesores consruida dentro de la profesion [Towards a teacher training developed insider the profession] *Revista de Educación,* 350, Septiembre-Diciembre, 203-218



O'Neill, J., Bourke, R. and Kearney, A. (2009) Discourses of inclusion in initial teacher education; Unravelling a New Zealand 'number eight wire' knot. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (94), 588-593

ONFRIH (2008) Observatoire national sur la formation, la recherche, et l'innovation sur le handicap [National observatory for training, research and innovation upon disability report] Available online at:http://www.travailsolidarite.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/Rapport\_ONFRIH\_2008.pdf Last accessed 20/03/10

OECD (2005) *Teachers matter: attracting, developing and retaining effective teachers* Available on line from: http://www.oecd.org/document/52/0,3343,en\_2649\_39263231 \_34991988\_1\_1\_1\_00.html#EO Last accessed 22/03/10

OECD (2009) Creating effective teaching and learning environments – first results from *TALIS* Available on line from: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/17/51/43023606.pdf Last accessed 22/03/10

OECD (2010) *Educating Teachers for Diversity. Meeting the Challenge*. Paris: OECD CERI, http://www.oecd.org/document/38/0,3343,en\_2649\_35845581\_44572006\_1\_1\_1\_1, 00.html Last accessed 30/03/2010

Orland-Barak, L. and Kremer-Hayon, L. (2001) *Portfolios as evidence of learning: And what remains 'untold'.* Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the European Association for research on learning and instruction, Fribourg, August, 2001

Ouane, A. (2008) *Creating education systems which offer opportunities for lifelong learning.* Paper presented at UNESCO International Conference on Education 'Inclusive education: the way of the future' 48th session. Geneva, 25–28 November 2008

Pearson, S. (2007) Exploring inclusive education: early steps for prospective secondary school teachers. *British Journal of Special Education*, 34 (1), 25-32

Pearson, S. (2009) Using activity theory to understand prospective teachers' attitudes to and construction of special educational needs and/or disabilities. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 559-568

Perrenoud, P. (2008) *Dix nouvelles competences pour enseigner* [Ten new competences for teaching] 6ème edition. Available online at: http://www.esf-editeur.fr/detail/592/dix-nouvelles-competences-pour-enseigner.html Last accessed 20/03/10

Peters, S. and Reid, K. (2009) Resistance and discursive practice: Promoting advocacy in teacher undergraduate and graduate programmes *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 551-558

Phelps, P. H. (2006) The dilemma of dispositions. *Clearing House: a Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas,* 79 (4), 174-178

Pierson, M. and Howell, E. (2006) Pre-service teachers' perceptions of inclusion. *Academic Exchange Quarterly,* September 2006

Pugach, M. C. and Johnson, L. J. (2002) *Collaborative practitioners, collaborative schools* 2nd edition, Denver: Love

Pugach, M. and Blanton, L. (2009) A framework for conducting research on collaborative teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25 (4), 575-582

Rao, S. (2009) A cross categorical approach to service delivery: Promoting Successful Inclusion through Teacher Education, *International Journal of Whole Schooling*, 5, 1



Reinke, K. and Moseley, C. (2002) The effects of teacher education on elementary and secondary preservice teachers' beliefs about integration: A longitudinal study. *Action in Teacher Education*, 24, 31-39

Renzaglia, A., Hutchins, M. and Lee, S. (1997) The impact of teacher education on the beliefs, attitudes, and dispositions of preservice special educators. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 20 (4), 360-377

Reynolds, M. (2001) Education for Inclusion, Teacher Education and the Teacher Training Agency Standards. *Journal of In-Service training*, 27 (3)

Rice, J. K. (2003) *Teacher quality: Understanding the effectiveness of teacher attributes.* Washington DC, Economic Policy Institute

Rink, J. E. (2002) *Teaching physical education for learning*. 4<sup>th</sup> edition, Boston: McGraw-Hill

Rix, J., Hall, K., Nind, M., Sheehy, K. and Wearmouth, J. (2006) A systematic review of interactions in pedagogical approaches with reported outcomes for the academic and social inclusion of pupils with special educational needs. Technical report. In: *Research Evidence in Education Library*. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London

Rodrigues, D. (2009) *Inclusion and Teacher's Education: who reforms the reformers?* Cross-National Invitational Symposium Teacher Education for Inclusive Education University of Aberdeen 18-20 October 2009

Roll-Petersen, L. (2001) Teacher Perceptions of Supports and Resources needed in regard to Pupils with Special Educational Needs in Sweden. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities*, 36 (1), 42-54

Romano, K. and Chambliss, C. (2000) *K-12 teachers' and administrators' attitudes toward inclusive educational practices.* ERIC Document number ED443215

Romi, S. and Leyser, Y. (2006) Exploring inclusion pre-service training needs: A study of variables associated with attitudes and sell-efficacy beliefs. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 21(1), 85-105

Rosenberg, M. S., Sindelar, P. T. and Hardman, M. L. (2004) Preparing highly qualified teachers for students with emotional or behavioral disorders: The impact of NCLB and IDEA. *Behavioral Disorders*, 29, 266-278

Rosenberg, M. S., Boyer, K. L., Sindelar, P. T. and Misra, S. K. (2007) Alternative route programs for certification in special education: program infrastructure instructional delivery, and participant characteristics. *Exceptional Children,* January 1, 2007

Rouse, M. (2010) Reforming initial teacher education. A necessary but not sufficient condition for developing inclusive practice. In Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Rowls, M. and Swick, K. J. (2000) Designing teacher education course syllabi that integrate service-learning. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 27 (3), 187-195.

Salend, S. J. (2001) *Creating Inclusive Classrooms: Effective and reflective practices*. 4<sup>th</sup> edition, Upper Saddler River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall

Saloviita, T. (2005) Erityisopetus opettajankoulutuksen sisältöalueena. [Special education as a content area of teacher education]. In Jakku-Sihvonen, R. (ed.) *Uudenlaisia maistereita*. Keuruu: Otava 339-351



Sanches-Ferreira, M. (2007) *Educação Regular, Educação Especial. Uma História de Separação* [Regular education, special education. A history of seperation] Edições Afrontamento

Sanders, W. and Horn, S. (1998) Research findings from the Tennessee Value-Added Assessment System (TVAAS) database: Implications for educational evaluation and research. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*, 12 (3), 247-256

Sanmamed, M. G. (2009) Una nueva oportunidad para la formacion inicial del profesorado de Educación Secundaria [A new opportunity for pre-service training of secondary school teachers] *Revista de Educación*, 350, Septiembre-Diciembre, 57-78

Sarason, S. (1990) The predictable failure of educational reform. Can we change course before it's too late? San Francisco: Jossey Bass

Savolainen, H. (2009) Responding to diversity and striving for excellence: The case for Finland. In Acedo C. (ed.) *Prospects Quarterly Review of Comparative Education*, 39 (3), September 2009

Schepens, A., Aelterman, A. and Vlerick, P. (2009) Student Teachers' Professional Identity Formation: Between being Born as a Teacher and becoming one. *Educational Studies*, Vol. 35, Nr 2

Schön, D. (1983) *The Reflective Practitioner. How professionals think in action*, London: Temple Smith

Scruggs, T. E. and Mastropieri, M. A. (1996) Teacher perceptions of mainstreaminginclusion, 1958–1995: A research synthesis. *Exceptional Children*, 63, 59-74

Shade, R. and Stewart, R. (2001) General education and special education preservice teachers' attitudes towards inclusion. *Preventing School Failure*, 46 (1), 37-41

Sharma, U. (2010) Using reflective practices for the preparation of pre-service teachers for inclusive classrooms. In Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Sharma, U., Ee, J. and Desai, I. (2003) A comparison of Australian and Singaporean preservice teachers' attitude and concerns about inclusive education. *Teaching and Learning*, 24 (2), 207-217

Sharma, U., Forlin, C., Loreman, T. and Earle, C. (2006) Impact of training on pre-service teachers' attitudes about inclusive education, concerns about inclusive education, and sentiments about persons with disabilities. *International Journal of Special Education*, 21 (2) 80-93

Shippen, M. E., Crites, S. A., Houchins, D. E., Ramsey, M. L. and Simon, M. (2005) Preservice Teachers' Perceptions of Including Students with Disabilities. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 28 (2)

Shoho, A. R., Katims, D. S. and Wilks, D. (1997) Perceptions of alienation among students with learning disabilities in inclusive and resource settings. *The High School Journal*, 81 (1), 26-36

Shulman, L. S. (1986) Those who understand: Knowledge Growth in Teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15, 4-14

Shulman, L. S. (1987) Knowledge and teaching: foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, 57, 1-2



Sigurðardóttir, A. K. (2008) *School-university partnership in teacher education in Iceland* Paper presented at: Cross-National Invitational Symposium on Teacher Education for Inclusion University of Aberdeen, 2–4 November 2008

Silverman, J. C. (2007) Epistemological Beliefs and Attitudes Toward Inclusion in Preservice Teachers. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 30 (1), 42-51

Sindelar, P. T. and Brownell, M. T. (2001) Research to practice dissemination, scale, and context: We can do it, but can we afford it? *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 24, 348-355

Sindelar, P. T. and Rosenberg, M. S. (2000) Serving too many masters: The proliferation of ill-conceived and contradictory policies and practices in teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 51 (3), 188-193

Slee, R. (2001) Social justice and the changing directions in education research: the case of inclusive education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 5 (2/3) 167-177

Slee, R. (2010) Political economy, inclusive education and teacher education. In Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Smith, R. and Leonard, P. (2005) Collaboration for Inclusion: Practitioner Perspectives. *Equity and Excellence in Education*, 38, 269-279

Snell, M. E. and Janney, R. E. (2000) Teachers' problem-solving about children with moderate and severe disabilities in elementary classrooms. *Exceptional Children*, 66 (4), 472-490

Soriano, V., Kyriazopoulou, M., Weber, H. and Grünberger, A. (eds.) (2008) *Young Voices: Meeting Diversity in Education*. Odense: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Spandagou, I., Evans, D. and Little, C. (2008) *Primary education pre-service teachers' attitudes on inclusion and perceptions on preparedness to respond to classroom diversity.* Paper presented at AARE 2008 International Education Research Conference, Australia

Stipek, D., Givvin, K., Salmon, J. and MacGyvers, V. (2001) Teachers' beliefs and practices related to mathematics instruction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 213-226

Stayton, V. D. and McCollun, J. (2002) Unifying general and special education: What does the research tell us? *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 25 (3), 211-218

Steinweg, S. B., Davi, M. L. and Thomson, W. S. (2005) A Comparison of Traditional and Online Instruction in an Introduction to Special Education Course. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 28 (1)

Stoddard, K., Braun, B., Hewitt, M. and Koorland, M. A. (2006) Teacher for all children: a combined elementary and special education teacher preparation program and three year evaluation. *Journal of Special Education*, 21 (1)

Stoddard, K., Dukes III, L., Braun, B., Koorland, M., Hewitt, M. (2006) Professional Behavior Assessment: Building and Measuring Professionalism in Preservice Teachers. *Journal of Authentic Learning,* 3 (1), 48-59

Subban, P. and Sharma, U. (2006) Teachers' perceptions of inclusive education in Victoria, Australia. *International Journal of Special Education*, 21 (1), 42-52



Swennen, A. van der Klink, M. (2008) *Becoming a Teacher Educator: Theory and Practice for Novice Teacher Educators.* London: Springer Verlag

Tait, K. and Purdie, N. (2000) Attitudes toward disability: teacher education for inclusive environments in an Australian university. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education,* 47 (1), 25-38

Talvite, U., Peltokallio, L. and Mannisto, P. (2000) Student-teachers' views about their relationships with university supervisors, cooperating-teachers and peer student teachers. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 44, 79-87

Tancig, S. and Devjak, T. (2006) *Prispevki k posodobitvi pedagoških študijskih programov* [Contributions to the modernization of educational studies programmes] Ljubljana: Pedagoška fakulteta

Taylor, S. V. and Sobel, D. M. (2001) Addressing the discontinuity of students' and teachers' diversity: A preliminary study of preservice teachers' beliefs and perceived skills. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 487-503

Tūbele, S. (2008) The study course 'Introduction to Special Needs Education' – a step towards teacher education for inclusive education at the University of Latvia. Paper presented at: Cross-National Invitational Symposium on Teacher Education for Inclusion University of Aberdeen, 2–4 November 2008

UNESCO (1994) *The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education.* Paris, UNESCO. Ministry of Education, Spain

UNESCO International Bureau of Education, 2009. *International Conference on Education. Inclusive Education: The Way of the Future* 28<sup>th</sup> Session Geneva 25–28 November 2008. UNESCO Paris. http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/Policy\_Dialogue/48<sup>th</sup>\_IC E/ICE\_FINAL\_REPORT\_eng.pdf Accessed 08/06/2010

UNESCO (2009) Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education. Paris: UNESCO

Usher, D. (2002) *Arthur Combs' five dimensions of helper belief reformulated as five dispositions of teacher effectiveness*. Paper presented at the First Annual Symposium on Educator Dispositions: Effective Teacher – Effective Person, Richmond, KY

Vandeputte, I., Vanacker, S. and Vanbuynder, G. (2007) *Vorming van de basis-competenties van leranen in de initele lerarenpleiding voor het werken in een inclusieve setting via actieonderzoeck* [Composing the basic teacher competences in initial teacher education for inclusive settings through action-research] Katholieke Hogeschool Sint-Lieven Campus Sint-Niklaas, 2007, www.kahosl.be

Van Laarhoven, T., Munk, D., Lynch, K., Wyland, S., Dorsh, N., Zurita, L., Bosma, J. and Rouse, J. (2006) Project ACCEPT: Preparing pre-service special and general educators for inclusive education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 29 (4), 209-212

Van Laarhoven, T., Munk, D., Lynch, K., Bosma, J. and Rouse, J. (2007) A model for preparing special and general education pre-service teachers for inclusive education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 58 (5), 440-455

Van Reusen, A. K., Shoho, A. R. and Barker, K. S. (2001) High school teacher attitudes toward inclusion. *The High School Journal*, 7-20

Voltz, D. L. (2003) Collaborative infusion: An emerging approach to teacher preparation for inclusive education. *Action in Teacher Education*, 25 (1), 5-13



Wang, M. and Fitch, P. (2010) Preparing pre-service teachers for effective co-teaching in inclusive classrooms. In Forlin, C. (ed.) (2010) *Teacher Education for Inclusion. Changing Paradigms and Innovative Approaches.* London: Routledge

Watkins, A. (ed.) (2007) Assessment in Inclusive Settings: Key issues for policy and practice, Odense: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Watkins, A. and D'Alessio, S. (2009) International Comparisons of Inclusive Policy and Practice: are we talking about the same thing? *Research in Comparative and International Education* Volume 4, Number 3, 2009

Weisman, E. M. and Garza, E. A. (2002) Preservice teacher attitudes toward diversity: One class can make a difference. *Equity and Excellence in Education*, 35, 28-35

Welch, T. and Gultig, J. (2002) *Becoming competent: Initiatives for the improvement of teacher education in South Africa 1995 to 2002.* Paper presented to Pan-Commonwealth Conference, Durban, South Africa July 2002

West, E. and Hudson, R. (2010) Using Early Career Special Educators Voice to Influence Initial Teacher Education. *International Journal of Whole Schooling*, 6 (1), 2010

Westwood, P. and Graham, L. (2003) Inclusion of students with special needs: benefits and obstacles perceived by teachers in New South Wales and South Australia. *Australian Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 8 (1), 3-15

White, M., Davis, L., Metcalf, D. and Williams, S. (2000) *Integrating multiple professional standards into the development and assessment of pre-service teachers' portfolio*. Conference proceedings of the 23rd annual conference of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children, Las Vegas, NV, 229-232

Whitney, L., Golez, F., Nagel, G. and Nieto, C. (2002) Listening to voices of practicing teachers to examine the effectiveness of a teacher education program. *Action in Teacher Education*, 23, 69-76

Wilcox, D. J., Putnam, J. and Wigle, S. E. (2002) Ensuring excellence in the preparation of special educators through program evaluation. *Education Indianopolis then Chula Vista* Vol 123, Part 2, 342-350

Willms, D. J. (2006) *Learning divides: Ten policy questions about the performance and equity of schools and schooling systems.* UNESCO Institute for Statistics, Montreal

Wilson, S., Floden, R. and Ferrini-Mundy, J. (2001) Teacher preparation research: An insider's view from the outside. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 53 (3), 90-204

Winch-Dummett, C. (2006) Successful pedagogies for an Australian multicultural classroom. *International Education Journal*, 7 (5) 778-789

Woloshyn, V., Bennett, S., Berrill, D. (2003) Working with students who have learning disabilities – teacher candidates speak out: Issues and concerns in pre-service education and professional development. *Exceptionality Education Canada*, 13 (1), 7-28

Wood, W. (2000) Persuasion and social influence. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 5, 539-570

Yellen, P. G., Yellin, D., Claypool, P. L., Mokhtari, K., Carr, R., Latiker, T., Risley, L. and Szabo, S. (2003) I'm not sure I can handle the kids, especially, the, uh, you know special ed kids. *Action in Teacher Education*, 25 (1), 14-19



Young, K. (2008) I don't think I'm the right person for that: Theoretical and institutional questions about a combined credential program. *Disability Studies Quarterly* 28 (4), 1-16 Available on line at: http://dsq-dsd.org/ Last accessed 19/11/2009

Zeichner, K. M. and Schulte, A. K. (2001) What we know and don't know from peer reviewed research about alternative certification programs. *Teacher Education*, 52, 266-282

Zimbardo, P. G. and Leippe, M. (1991) *The psychology of attitude change and social influence*. New York: McGraw-Hill

# Secretariat:

Østre Stationsvej 33 DK-5000 Odense C Denmark Tel: +45 64 41 00 20 secretariat@european-agency.org

Brussels Office:

Avenue Palmerston 3 BE-1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 2 280 33 59 brussels.office@european-agency.org



www.european-agency.org